# **COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT**

## - between -

### YWCA OF GREATER TORONTO

(hereinafter referred to as the "THE EMPLOYER")

- and -

### CANADIAN UNION OF PUBLIC EMPLOYEES, AND ITS LOCAL 2189

(hereinafter referred to as the "THE UNION")

April 1, 2018 to March 31, 2021

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

Note: Changes from the previous Collective Agreement are denoted in **BOLD TYPE**.

ARTICLE 1 – DEFINITIONS
Employees included in, and excluded from the bargaining unit; contract Employees.
ARTICLE 2 – RECOGNITION
ARTICLE 3 – NO DISCRIMINATION
ARTICLE 4 – MANAGEMENT RIGHTS 10
ARTICLE 5 – UNION SECURITY AND CHECK-OFF
Membership in Union; dues deduction, check-off and authorization; information for new
Employees; notification of Local; errors in collection of dues.
ARTICLE 6 – UNION REPRESENTATION
Union officers and Stewards; negotiating team and observers; work time for Union
representation; investigation of complaints and grievances; correspondence between
Employer and Local; bulletin board; grievance committees; access to equipment.
ARTICLE 7 – LABOUR MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE
of committee; minutes of meeting; jurisdiction of committee.
ARTICLE 8 – UNION MEETINGS
Meeting on premises; number paid, non-paid; travel time; coverage by non-bargaining unit
Employees; leave of absence for Union activities.
ARTICLE 9 – LOCAL INVOLVEMENT ON BOARD AND COMMITTEES
Local attendance at committees; Board attendance; posting of minutes and agendas.
ARTICLE 10 – STRIKES AND LOCKOUTS
ARTICLE 11 – GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE
Steps and procedures; mediation; policy and group grievance.
ARTICLE 12 – ARBITRATION
Required notice; process; selection of Arbitrator; fees and expenses; time limits.
ARTICLE 13 – DISCIPLINARY MEASURES
Progressive discipline; procedures; disciplinary letters or suspension; dismissal for cause;
termination; immediate suspension; termination for incompetence; grievances related to
disciplinary measures; Employee's file. ARTICLE 14 – PROBATIONARY EMPLOYEE
ARTICLE 14 – PROBATIONARY EMPLOYEE
ARTICLE 15 – SENIORITY
Definition; posting of lists; cessation of seniority; accumulation of seniority; seniority
dates of contract Employees.
ARTICLE 16 – LAYOFF, BUMPING, RECALL
Definition; departmental restructuring; notice of layoffs; Employer assistance regarding
layoffs; altered positions; bumping procedures; right of recall; recall procedures.
ARTICLE 17 – VACANCIES AND TRANSFERS
Job postings; internal candidates; unfilled vacancies; selection of Employees; seniority
rights on transfer; notice and temporary arrangements for coverage; consent for transfer;
information for new Employees; unreasonable workload.
ARTICLE 18 – HOURS OF WORK, OVERTIME, SHIFT SCHEDULES, MEAL BREAKS, STAND-
BY, ON-CALL AND CALL-IN
paid and unpaid meal breaks.

	EMPLOYEE DEVELOPMENT	43
	Access to training opportunities; Employer's responsibilities; division of funds. PROVISIONS FOR FAMILIES	45
	Child care allowance; staff discounts.	
	EMPLOYEE PROTECTION	46
E	Employer's responsibility for safety of Employees; after-hours transportation; CPR/First Aid/Self Defense training; hazardous working conditions; right to a harassment-free workplace.	10
	PAID HOLIDAYS	48
-	Exchange of holidays for religious reasons; work on paid holidays; "float days".	
	/ACATIONS	49
	Vacation entitlement; accumulation during leaves; pay on termination; time limits.	
ARTICLE 24 – 9		51
ā	Accumulation; medical certificates; sick children, spouse or partners; medical/dental appointments; special requests; notification for days accumulated; intermittent absences;	-
	Ilness during vacations; "health promotion days". PREGNANCY / PARENTAL LEAVE	52
	Length of leave; paid benefit; retention of rights; date of request; return to work;	52
	supplementary employment benefits.	
	SPECIAL LEAVES	55
	Jury duty; sabbatical leave; pre-paid leave plan; compassionate leave; other leaves.	55
	REIMBURSEMENT	58
	Transportation arrangements; TTC allowances; liability insurance; mileage allowance;	50
	parking fees; use of Employee's bicycle; child care; expense claims.	
	EMPLOYEE BENEFITS.	59
E	Eligibility; group pension plan; life insurance; long-term disability; dental; medical; visi care; Workplace Safety and Insurance Act; extended health care benefits upon ea retirement.	on
ARTICLE 29 - J	IOINT OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH & SAFETY COMMITTEE	61
(	Committee objectives; legislative responsibilities; terms of reference.	
ARTICLE 30 - J	IOB SHARING	62
ARTICLE 31 - N	MODIFIED WORK	63
ARTICLE 32 – S	SECONDMENT	64
	Approval procedure; length of secondment; salaries of seconded Employees.	
ARTICLE 33 – J	IOB DESCRIPTIONS	66
F	Filing of written description and factor analysis; review and changes of job descriptions.	
ARTICLE 34 – J	IOINT JOB CLASSIFICATION AND SALARY SCALE	67
F	Representatives of the Committee; remuneration of Employees; changes due to	
t	transfers; temporary assumption of other responsibilities.	
	GENERAL CONDITIONS	69
	Evaluations; personnel files; letters of reference; criminal reference checks.	
	PRODUCTION OF AGREEMENT	
ARTICLE 37 – I	DURATION OF AGREEMENT	72

	OF POSITIONS BY TITLE AND LEVEL	
APPENDIX B		
APPENDIX B		80
APPENDIX B		81
APPENDIX C		82
APPENDIX D		83
APPENDIX E		83
APPENDIX F		86
APPENDIX G		

#### ARTICLE 1 – DEFINITIONS

1.01 The general purpose of this Agreement is to establish and maintain collective bargaining relations between the Association and the Employees covered by this Agreement; to provide for ongoing means of communication between the Union and the Association and the prompt disposition of grievances and the final settlement of disputes and establish and maintain satisfactory salaries, hours of work and other conditions of employment in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement.

It is recognized that Employees wish to work together with the Association to secure the best possible care and service for participants.

All references to the **female** gender in this Agreement shall be read to include all genders **including gender non-binary people**.

- 1.02 (a) The terms "staff", "Employee" or "Employees" used in this Agreement shall be defined to mean persons (other than volunteers) who are paid for their services and are employed by the Employer. The term "staff" refers to persons both included and excluded from the bargaining unit pursuant to the Recognition Article. The term "Employees" is limited to those persons specifically included in the bargaining unit pursuant to the Recognition Article.
  - (b) The term "Local" as used in this Agreement, unless clearly specified otherwise, shall mean Local 2189 of CUPE (Canadian Union of Public Employees).
  - (c) The term "Employer" shall mean the Young Women's Christian Association of Greater Toronto (YWCA Toronto).
  - (d) The term "Union" shall mean the Canadian Union of Public Employees and "Union Representative" will be a staff person (field representative) of CUPE.
  - (e) The term "Bargaining Unit" shall mean all those Employees eligible to join the Local pursuant to the Recognition Article.
  - (f) The term "contract staff" shall mean a staff who is hired for a specific job and for a specific time frame. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, this includes staff hired with short-term project funding or persons filling in short-term vacancies within the bargaining unit such as pregnancy/parental leave, personal leave, or extended sick leave. Contract staff completing more than ten (10) months of work and who work 17.5 hours per week and over shall be in the bargaining unit.
  - (g) The term "relief staff" shall mean persons employed by the Employer to replace Employees during a short-term absence such as but not limited to vacation or sick leave. Relief staff are provided with short notice of their assignment and may elect to work based on their availability. Relief staff are paid on an hourly basis.
  - (h) The term "sessional staff" shall refer to staff not in the bargaining unit who are paid hourly to fulfill program needs of a regularly scheduled sessional nature. Sessional staff are not covered by the Collective Agreement.

- (i) The term "transfer" shall apply when an Employee leaves one position for a different position in the Association, and the position they are vacating still exists.
- (j) It is recognized that "level" in Appendix B refers to the job, as assessed through the job classification process.
- (k) The term "child" shall refer to a child for whom an Employee is one of the primary caregivers who is under the age of twenty-one (21) years or, if enrolled and in full time attendance at a college or university, under the age of twenty-five (25) years. This term is to include the children of a partner.
- (I) The term "participants" in this Agreement shall include residents and clients.

#### ARTICLE 2 – RECOGNITION

- 2.01 The Employer recognizes the Local as the sole and exclusive bargaining agent for all Employees of the Employer, save and except Managers, Directors and excluded Employees listed in Article 2.04.
- 2.02 (a) The parties agree that staff hired on contracts of ten (10) months or less and parttime staff who are regularly scheduled to work fewer than 17.5 hours per week (including relief and sessional staff), are excluded from the bargaining unit and are not covered by the terms of this Agreement.
  - (b) The parties agree that persons hired into training positions funded under a recognized job training program, and who would otherwise be included fully in the bargaining unit under Article 2.02(d), shall be included in the bargaining unit and covered by the terms of this Collective Agreement, save and except Articles 13 (Disciplinary Measures), Article 15 (Seniority), Article 16 (Layoff, Bumping, Recall) and Article 17 (Vacancies and Transfers). It is agreed that such Employees shall be considered "external candidates" for the purposes of Article 17.
  - (c) The parties agree that "sessional staff", including child care workers, shall not be included in the bargaining unit and are not covered by the terms of this Collective Agreement.
  - (d) (i) The parties agree that persons hired by the Employer on contracts for an agreed term in excess of ten (10) calendar months and who work 17.5 hours per week or more shall be considered members of the bargaining unit, and shall be covered by all of the terms of the Collective Agreement, save and except Articles 13, 15, 16, and 17 (however, Articles 17.01 (b), 17.02 (a), 17.02 (b)(i) and 17.02 (c) do apply). It is agreed that such Employees shall be considered "internal candidates" for the purposes of Article 17.
    - (ii) Contract positions that extend beyond twelve (12) months and for which the Association receives program funding shall become permanent bargaining unit positions and be posted according to Article 17.
    - (iii) Notwithstanding the above, a permanent member of the bargaining unit who accepts a contract position for an agreed term of six (6) calendar months or more shall maintain all her rights pursuant to the Collective Agreement except as otherwise provided under Article 17.06.

- (e) Persons who complete successive contracts (and who work 17.5 hours per week) with the Association, such that the combination of their contracts extends in excess of ten (10) calendar months, shall be considered members of the bargaining unit. They shall be eligible to receive all benefits of a bargaining unit staff, save and except Article 13 (Disciplinary Measures), Article 15 (Seniority), Article 16 (Layoff, Bumping, Recall) and Article 17 (Vacancies and Transfers), (however, Articles 17.01 (b), 17.02 (a), 17.02 (b) (i) and 17.02 (c) do apply), regardless of how many different short-term contracts they may actually work, provided there is a break of less than two (2) calendar months between each contract. It is agreed that such Employees shall be considered "internal candidates" for the purposes of Article 17.
- 2.03 Without restricting the generality of the foregoing, it is agreed that Directors and Managers are excluded from the bargaining unit as exercising managerial functions.
- 2.04 It is understood and agreed that the Human Resources Assistants and the Executive Coordinator to the Chief Executive Officer are excluded from the bargaining unit as requiring employment in a confidential capacity in matters relating to Labour Relations.
- 2.05 The Employer shall not, so long as the Union and/or the Local continues to be entitled to represent Employees in the bargaining unit, bargain with or enter into a Collective Agreement with any person or another trade union on behalf of or purporting, design or intended to be binding upon the Employees in the bargaining unit or any of them.
- 2.06 Staff members, volunteers, students, contract workers and temporary contract office staff, whose jobs are not in the bargaining unit shall not do work normally done by members of the bargaining unit except for the purpose of instruction, emergencies or temporary workload or short-term absences of up to ten (10) months.

#### **ARTICLE 3 – NO DISCRIMINATION**

- 3.01 The Employer and the Local agree that there shall be no discrimination, intimidation, interference, restraint or coercion exercised or practiced by either of them or by any of their representatives or members because of an Employee's membership or non-membership in the Union, activity or lack of activity in the Union, or because of any Employee exercising her rights under the Ontario Labour Relations Act.
- 3.02 The Employer and the Local agree to observe the provisions of the Human Rights Code and the YWCA Toronto's Workplace Discrimination and Harassment Policy. The Employer shall not discriminate against, intimidate, interfere with or coerce an Employee for any reason pursuant to the Human Rights Code, other than to intervene when an Employee's action is detrimental to the Association, subject to the Grievance Procedure.
- 3.03 Inasmuch as the Employer exists to further the activities and aims of its women members and the community generally, it is understood and agreed that the Employer will employ, retain and evaluate Employees on the basis of their qualifications, experience, competence and job performance subject to the right of an Employee to assert that in carrying out such action the Employer has violated this Agreement.

#### **ARTICLE 4 – MANAGEMENT RIGHTS**

- 4.01 Except where specifically abridged by the terms of this Agreement and subject to the rights of Employees, the Local and the Union to the Grievance Procedure, it is the exclusive right and function of the Employer to manage and direct its operations and affairs in all respects, and without limiting or restricting this right and function:
  - (a) to maintain order, discipline and efficiency, and to make, alter and enforce reasonable rules and regulations to be observed by Employees. The Employer agrees to notify the Local, in writing, of all rules and regulations, or of alterations thereto, and provide notice thereof;
  - (b) to classify and determine the content of each job for the most productive service, employ new personnel, select for new or vacant positions, transfer, suspend or otherwise discipline or dismiss for just cause;
  - (c) to determine the kinds of services to be performed; the location of administrative functions and services, and the allocation of personnel and resources;
  - (d) to continue its present practice of using volunteers and students in the delivery of direct service.
- 4.02 The Employer recognizes that the rights described in this Article shall be exercised in a manner consistent with all provisions of this Agreement.
- 4.03 There shall be no written or verbal agreements with any Employees that are contrary to this Collective Agreement, without consultation and agreement from the Local.

#### ARTICLE 5 – UNION SECURITY AND CHECK-OFF

- 5.01 Neither the Employer nor the Local will discriminate against any Employee because of her membership or non-membership in the Union. It is recognized that membership in the Union is a voluntary act on the part of each Employee in the bargaining unit.
- 5.02 As a condition of employment, or continued employment, of its Employees in the bargaining unit, the Employer agrees to deduct from the wages of each Employee, union dues in an amount equivalent to the regular monthly dues duly authorized by the constitution of the Union for union dues, and to remit the amount so deducted from the Employee's earnings, together with a list of such Employees **that** shall **include each Employee's regular wages for that month will** be forwarded to the National Secretary-Treasurer of the Canadian Union of Public Employees with a copy forwarded to the Treasurer of the Local. Such deduction will be remitted within fifteen (15) days of the payment of wages each month.
- 5.03 This compulsory check-off of dues shall continue during the lifetime of this Agreement or any renewal thereof and shall be continued throughout any period during which the parties are engaged in negotiations with a view to making a new Agreement, and it shall apply to all Employees in the bargaining unit.
- 5.04 The Union shall keep the Employer advised, in writing, of any changes in the amount of its monthly dues.
- 5.05 (a) The Employer agrees, at the time of hiring, to acquaint the new Employee with the fact that a Collective Agreement is in effect and to provide her with a copy of the Collective Agreement and a list of all council members.
  - (b) The Employer shall provide the new Employee with an Orientation Kit, including a welcome letter from the Union, for New Employees. The Employer agrees to provide the Local with a copy of such kit and to notify the Local of any changes made therein.
- 5.06 (a) The Employer agrees to notify the Local of the name of each Employee who has satisfactorily completed the probationary period.
  - (b) A Union Steward shall have the right to meet the Employee, with the Supervisor's knowledge and at mutual convenience, for one hour during work time, within one month from the date of hiring.
- 5.07 The Employer agrees to inform the Local of all appointments, demotions, hires, lay-offs, transfers, recalls, job shares, secondments, leaves, resignations, retires, deaths, or other changes or terminations of employment relating to bargaining unit members within thirty (30) days of such an event.
- 5.08 Errors in the collection of union dues shall be split between the Association and the Local equally.

#### ARTICLE 6 – UNION REPRESENTATION

6.01 The Employer will only recognize Stewards at each of the Employer's sites as follows:

1 to 20 Employees – 1 Steward 21 to 40 Employees – 2 Stewards 41 to 60 Employees – 3 Stewards

All bargaining unit Employees shall have access to a Steward. When new programs or locations are opened, a Steward shall be elected as needed.

- 6.02 An Employee shall not qualify to serve as a Steward until she has completed the probationary period of her employment.
- 6.03 The Local will inform the Employer of any change in the list of Local Officers or Committee members within five (5) working days of that change. The Employer shall not be obliged to recognize any Committee member or Officer of the Local unless the Employer has been properly informed of her selection.
- 6.04 (a) The Employer agrees to recognize a maximum of three (3) Employees and one (1) representative of the Union as constituting the Union Negotiating Team. Time spent by the three (3) Employee members of the Union Negotiating Team in negotiating meetings with the Employer shall be considered work time.
  - (b) In the period beginning six (6) months prior to the termination of the Collective Agreement, and up to the signing of a new one, each member of the Negotiating Team and one (1) alternate shall be entitled to use time equivalent to five (5) working days, three (3) paid, two (2) unpaid, to prepare for negotiations. This time shall be arranged in consultation with the Supervisors.
  - (c) The parties agree that during any negotiating meetings, each party may have observers in attendance.

- 6.05 Union Stewards, Executives of the Local or their designates shall have the right to investigate Employees' complaints and to attend meetings with the Employer in order to discuss grievances or other Union business. Union Stewards, Executives of the Local or their designates shall efficiently undertake these tasks in order to obtain the prompt resolution of problems. No Employee will leave her regular work to attend Union business without giving reasonable advance notice to her Supervisor and securing her Supervisor's permission, which permission shall not be unreasonably withheld. Time spent during regular working hours in the investigation and processing of grievances by members of the Grievance Committee, Executives of the Local, Stewards or their designate, and grievors shall be considered work time to a maximum of twelve (12) hours. The Employer will not be obliged to recognize any Union Steward, Committee member or their designate unless prior written notice of such person's appointment has been given to the Employer before such person takes any action as a representative. A designate must either be an Employee or the Union Representative. Designates may only act in substitution for and in the absence of the person appointed.
- 6.06 All work performed by Union members on a joint Union/Management Committee shall be considered work time.
- 6.07 All correspondence between the parties arising out of this Agreement and incidental thereto shall pass to and from the Chief Executive Officer of the Employer or her designate and the appropriate Local representative.
- 6.08 The Employer agrees to recognize a Local Grievance Committee comprised of a Steward and not more than two (2) additional members of the bargaining unit at any particular grievance procedure. The Local agrees to provide written notice of the names of these Employees prior to the commencement of a particular grievance. The Union Representative may attend and participate at the request of the Grievance Committee.
- 6.09 The Employer shall provide a bulletin board measuring not less than 24" by 36" in each centre (one in each building) for the purposes of posting Union bulletins and notices only. Bulletin boards shall be placed in areas all Employees would normally access.
- 6.10 The Employer agrees to permit members of the Local in the bargaining unit reasonable access to computers, photocopiers and other office equipment located on those premises of the Employer where a Management person has her office for matters directly relating to the efficient functioning of Local 2189 and distribution of information to members of Local 2189 arising from the administration of the Collective Agreement under the following conditions:
  - (a) such machines will not be used for such purposes during an Employee's work hours.
     It is agreed that the Employer's work takes precedence;
  - (b) Employer's supplies used by the Local will be at cost;

- (c) prior to utilizing such equipment, a request for such use has been agreed to by the Management person (or her designate) having her office in the premises where the equipment is located which agreement shall be confirmed in writing in due course;
- (d) normal care and attention shall be given to such equipment when used from time to time. It is understood and agreed that with regard to the use of the above equipment the needs of the Employer must be given priority. The Employer reserves the right to limit or discontinue the use of such equipment if, in the opinion of the Employer, this use is causing unreasonable strain on facilities and is in conflict with efficient service to clients, participants and residents.
- (e) The Employer agrees to provide the Local with an office space at the Bongard house location. It is understood if Management would like the room back for any reason, they shall provide the Union with sixty (60) days written notice. If available, the Employer will provide a replacement office.

#### ARTICLE 7 – LABOUR MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

#### 7.01 Establishment of Committee

The parties mutually agree that there are matters that would be beneficial if discussed at a Labour-Management Committee meeting during the term of this Agreement. The Committee shall consist of two (2) elected representatives of the Local and two (2) Management representatives of the Association. Subject to the item(s) on the agenda, either party may request the attendance of additional representatives to deal with specific issues.

#### 7.02 <u>Function of Committee</u>

The Committee shall concern itself with the following general matters:

- (1) To promote co-operation and discussion regarding issues of mutual interest and concern with the hope of resolving, where possible, such issues in the best interests of the YWCA Toronto, its Employees and Management in a non-adversarial manner.
- (2) Considering constructive feedback of all activities so that better relations shall exist between the Employer and the Employees.
- (3) Improving and extending services to the public.

#### 7.03 Meetings of Committee

The Labour-Management Committee will meet as required. The party requesting such meeting will give seven (7) calendar days' notice with a list of agenda items accompanied by a brief statement setting out the nature of the issues for discussion. Each meeting will take place as soon as it is reasonably possible following the seven (7) calendar days of notice. The agenda will be sent to all committee members including the alternate.

7.04 Time spent by the two elected representatives of the Local attending meetings of the Labour-Management Committee shall be considered work time.

#### 7.05 Chairperson of the Meeting

A Union and an Employer representative shall alternate in presiding over meetings.

#### 7.06 <u>Minutes of Meeting</u>

Minutes of each meeting of the Committee shall be prepared and circulated to both parties. The minutes will be sent to all committee members including the alternate.

#### 7.07 Jurisdiction of Committee

The Committee shall not have jurisdiction over wages or any matter of collective bargaining, including the administration of this Collective Agreement. The Committee shall not supersede the activities of any other committee of the Union or of the Employer.

7.08 The CUPE National Representative assigned to the bargaining unit shall be permitted to attend meetings of the Labour-Management Committee. Similarly, Management may have outside assistance if it believes it to be necessary.

## 7.09 The Employer shall provide the following information to the Union members of the Labour-Management Committee:

- (1) On a quarterly basis, a list of mailing addresses and phone numbers for bargaining unit members as contained in the Employer's records;
- (2) At each Labour-Management Committee meeting, a list of vacant bargaining unit positions.
- 7.10 The following provision applies to any reorganization or restructuring which occurs on or after the date of ratification by both parties. In the event of reorganization or restructuring of the Association, or program or department, which will have potential adverse effects upon Employees in the bargaining unit, the parties agree that they will discuss possible ways and means of avoiding impact, including:
  - Identifying and proposing possible alternatives to any action
  - Identifying and seeking ways to address on-the-job retraining needs of Employees
  - Identifying vacant positions within the Association for which surplus members of the bargaining unit might qualify, or such positions, which are currently filled but which are expected to become vacant within a twelve (12) month period.
- 7.11 Emergency Labour-Management Committee meetings shall be called as soon as reasonably possible, by either party between regularly scheduled meetings, to address time sensitive matters.
- 7.12 To allow the Labour-Management committee to carry out its mandated role under this Article, the Association will provide the Committee with pertinent financial and staffing information and with a copy of any reorganization plans that impact on the bargaining unit.

#### ARTICLE 8 – UNION MEETINGS

- 8.01 The Employer agrees that members of the bargaining unit may hold meetings on the premises of the Employer other than during times when most of those attending would be scheduled for work, provided that there is adequate staff coverage which is approved by the Management representative in the centre. The plan for providing such coverage must be submitted by the Union Steward in that centre to the Management representative, in writing, and approved by the Management representative at least twenty-four (24) hours in advance. Application for use of the meeting space must be submitted to the Management representative and cleared by her at least twenty-four (24) hours in advance. Such clearance shall not be unreasonably withheld.
- 8.02 In addition to the foregoing, members of the bargaining unit may meet together at the Employer's premises during work time, with no loss of pay, subject to the provisions for coverage and building use provided for in clause 8.01.

Attendance at Union meetings outside of an Employee's scheduled working hours is not considered work time or overtime earned.

- (a) The total bargaining unit may meet five (5) times each calendar year for two (2) hours, one (1) hour of which is considered paid work time taken consecutively at the time of day deemed most convenient by both Employees and the Management representative in the centre. In the event the bargaining unit member is scheduled to work during both hours of the Union Meeting, both hours shall be covered as paid work time. The Union agrees to provide the Employer with at least fifteen (15) working days' notice for total bargaining unit meetings whenever possible. The Employee's ability to attend such meetings will be granted at the discretion of the Manager, depending on program needs. Upon request one additional meeting may be granted during negotiations for the renewal of the Collective Agreement. Such request shall not be unreasonably denied.
- (b) For Employees that are scheduled to work the day of the Local Meeting, travelling time from the work place and the total bargaining unit meetings and back to work (when required to complete a regularly scheduled shift) shall be considered work time in addition to the time provided for in Article 8.02(a). There shall be no reimbursement for travel expenses under this Article.
- (c) The Employer agrees that members of the bargaining unit shall have fifteen (15) minutes once a month, if necessary, at a team meeting to discuss matters arising with the Union depending on program needs.

Once per quarter, this time could be extended to 30 minutes, pursuant to the Local's request. The Local shall notify the Manager of the program at least one week in advance when such a meeting is necessary.

8.03 Staff excluded from the bargaining unit may provide coverage for bargaining unit Employees wishing to attend Union meetings, **subject to Article 8.02**.

- 8.04 Upon written request by the Local, given not later than thirteen (13) working days in advance to the Employer, the Employer will grant leave of absence without pay for attendance at Union meetings, conferences, conventions or to attend to Local business, provided however, that said leave will not total more than twenty-five (25) working days per calendar year for the entire bargaining unit. No more than three (3) Employees shall be granted leave at any one time. Approval for such leave shall not be unreasonably withheld. Should the designated Employee be unable to attend, permission to substitute another Employee shall not be unreasonably withheld.
- 8.05 Notwithstanding Article 8.04, the Local may request unpaid leaves for more than three (3) Employees at one time and the total requested time off may exceed the 25 working days per calendar year. The Employer will consider such requests and approval for such requests will not be unreasonably withheld.

#### ARTICLE 9 – LOCAL INVOLVEMENT ON BOARD AND COMMITTEES

- 9.01 The Local may request permission of the Chairperson at least forty-eight (48) hours in advance, to attend Board Committee or Task Force meetings. Permission shall not be unreasonably refused. A copy of the most recent agenda and minutes of Committees and/or reports of Task forces shall be available on request.
- 9.02 Local members may attend Board meetings with the prior approval of the Chair or Chief Executive Officer, and may, with prior approval, speak to matters on the agenda. Attendance at such meetings shall not be considered work time, unless the Employer has requested the members' attendance. Agenda and minutes of Board meetings will be sent to the President of the Local and each Union Steward on the same day as they are sent to Board members for posting in each YWCA Toronto centre.

#### **ARTICLE 10 – STRIKES AND LOCKOUTS**

10.01 There shall be no strikes or lockouts so long as this Agreement continues to operate. The terms "strike" and "lockout" shall bear the meaning given them in the Ontario Labour Relations Act.

#### ARTICLE 11 – GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

11.01 It is the mutual desire of both parties that complaints be resolved effectively and efficiently. The grievance procedure shall not be invoked until the Employee has attempted to resolve the complaint with her Supervisor or designate. Documentation of this unresolved attempt, which may include the reasons why it was not possible to complete the process, will be required before proceeding to Step 1. The Employee is entitled to Local Union representation at any such meeting.

#### 11.02 <u>Step 1</u>

The Employee having an unresolved complaint shall submit a signed grievance to her Manager within fifteen (15) working days after the complaint arose. A meeting between the Manager, the Director of Human Resources, or her designate, two members of the Grievance Committee and the grievor shall take place no later than six (6) working days after the Manager receives the signed grievance. The Manager's decision shall be delivered to the Grievance Committee no later than five (5) working days after the said meeting has occurred.

#### 11.03 <u>Step 2</u>

Within five (5) and up to ten (10) working days subsequent to the decision at Step 1, the grievance may be submitted, in writing, by the Local to the Chief Executive Officer or her designate. The Chief Executive Officer may request the presence of additional representatives of the Employer providing said number doesn't exceed the Local's and shall convene a meeting to consider the grievance at Step 2, within five (5) and no later than ten (10) working days. The Grievor shall have the right to be present and may be accompanied by the Grievance Committee and the Union Representative. The Chief Executive Officer shall deliver her decision in writing within seven (7) working days from the date of such meeting. Failing settlement at Step 2, either the Local or the Employer may submit the grievance to arbitration and/or mediation within twenty (20) working days of the date of the decision of the Chief Executive Officer or her designate at Step 2.

- 11.04 Should either the Local or the Employer elect to submit the grievance to mediation, such request shall be made at the same time as the request for arbitration is made. However, either party may refuse to proceed to mediation. The mediation shall be scheduled within a reasonable period. The cost of the Mediator shall be borne in equal amount by the Employer and the Union. The arbitration procedures outlined in Article 12 shall continue should the parties not reach a settlement with the mediator.
- 11.05 Any difference arising directly between the Union and/or the Local and the Employer relating to the interpretation, application or alleged violation of the Agreement may be presented by either party as a Policy Grievance within twenty (20) working days after the date when the subject matter of the grievance first arose, commencing at Step 2.

- 11.06 The Local shall have the right to process a Group Grievance in cases where more than one Employee may be affected, or where a grievance could not otherwise be processed by an individual Employee, commencing at Step 2.
- 11.07 Any of the time allowances provided above may be extended by mutual agreement between the two parties.
- 11.08 If at any step in the grievance procedure or the arbitration procedure, the grievance has not been processed by either of the two parties within the prescribed time limits, the grievance may be advanced to the next step by the grievor.

#### ARTICLE 12 – ARBITRATION

- 12.01 Where a grievance arises out of a difference between the parties relating to the interpretation, application or administration of this Agreement, including any questions as to whether a matter is arbitrable, or where a grievance alleges that this Agreement has been violated, either of the parties may, after exhausting the grievance procedure established by this Agreement, notify the other party, in writing, of its desire to submit the grievance to arbitration. Such notice shall be given within twenty (20) working days of the receipt of the decision provided for in Step 2 of the grievance procedure.
- 12.02 The parties shall, within ten (10) working days of such notice, meet to agree on the appointment of a sole Arbitrator. By mutual agreement the parties may agree to the appointment of an Arbitration Board. If the parties fail to agree on the appointment, the appointment shall be made by the Minister of Labour upon request of either party.
- 12.03 The Arbitrator or Arbitration Board shall hear and determine the grievance and shall issue a decision, and the decision shall be final and binding upon the parties and upon any Employee affected by it. The Arbitrator or Arbitration Board shall not have the power to alter, modify or amend any part of this Agreement, or to give any decision inconsistent with the terms and provisions of this Agreement.
- 12.04 The fees and expenses of the Chairperson or the Single Arbitrator shall be shared equally by both parties. Where a Board has been appointed, each party shall pay the fees and expenses of the Arbitrator it appoints.
- 12.05 Employees whose attendance is required by the Arbitrator or the Arbitration Board at Arbitration hearings shall be granted leave from work and the time shall be considered time worked.
- 12.06 Any time limits mentioned in the grievance and arbitration procedures shall exclude Saturdays, Sundays and statutory holidays and may be extended by mutual Agreement.
- 12.07 No person who has been involved in any attempt to negotiate or settle the grievance, shall be appointed as an Arbitrator unless the Employer and the Union agree otherwise.

#### ARTICLE 13 – DISCIPLINARY MEASURES

- 13.01 The Employer shall not discipline an Employee except for just and sufficient cause. Where discipline is required, the principles of progressive discipline shall be followed.
- 13.02 Where appropriate, in the normal course of supervision, Employer concerns shall be communicated to the Employee either verbally or in writing, but this shall not constitute formal discipline. Any communication shall take place as quickly as reasonably possible after the event(s) giving rise to the concern become known to the Employer. Nothing regarding these communications will be placed in the Employee's personnel file.
- 13.03 (a) Formal discipline, in accordance with the principles of progressive discipline, may take the form of a written warning, a suspension or a termination.
  - (b) Where an incident or behaviour leads to potential disciplinary action, the Employer shall commence an investigation. The Employer shall notify, in writing, the Employee and the Local of the reasons for the investigatory meeting and identify the alleged incident or behaviour. For the purpose of this section, an investigation could, at a minimum, constitute a discussion between the Employer and the Employee. An Employee being investigated or interviewed as a witness during the course of such an investigation shall have the right to seek and obtain the services of a Steward or her designate including having the Steward or her designate present when she is requested to attend an investigatory meeting with the Employer.
  - (c) On completion of investigation and within twenty (20) working days after the circumstances giving rise to the discipline become known to the Employer, if the Employer determines that disciplinary action is warranted, a meeting will be held with the Employee in which a written notification of formal discipline shall be provided to the Employee, with a copy forwarded to the Local. An Employee has the right to seek and obtain the services of up to two (2) elected officials of the Local at such a meeting.
  - (d) For purposes of clarification, only Management staff can initiate formal disciplinary action.
- 13.04 (a) Where the Employee's behaviour appears to put in jeopardy the welfare of participants, other staff or the Association, the Employer may exercise the right to immediate suspension with pay for the purpose of investigating a complaint.
  - (b) Where it is found after the investigation that there was an absence of just and sufficient cause, the Employer agrees to communicate this to the Employee in writing, with a copy provided to the Local. In such circumstances, all hard copy or electronic documents related to the investigation shall be removed from all files held by the Employer.
  - (c) After complete investigation, the Employer may institute disciplinary action, if warranted, including immediate termination.

#### 13.05 <u>Termination</u>

It is understood the Employer reserves the right to terminate an Employee for just and sufficient cause only.

For the purposes of this Article, incompetence shall be considered just and sufficient grounds for disciplinary action, including termination.

An Employee who is terminated on such grounds of incompetence shall receive notice of termination or pay in lieu of notice, based on seniority as follows:

- i) Probationary Employees 1 week
- ii) Up to two (2) years employment 2 weeks
- iii) Two (2) to four (4) years employment 3 weeks
- iv) Four (4) to five (5) years employment 4 weeks
- v) Five (5) to six (6) years employment 5 weeks
- vi) Six (6) to seven (7) years employment 6 weeks
- vii) Seven (7) to eight (8) years employment 7 weeks
- viii) Eight (8) years and over 8 weeks

For part-time Employees, pay in lieu of notice is to be pro-rated.

- 13.06 An Employee shall be deemed terminated when she:
  - (a) after receipt of a registered letter from the Employer recalling her from layoff, fails to report for work within five (5) consecutive working days, unless absent for a reason satisfactory to the Employer;
  - (b) is absent without leave for four (4) consecutive working days during which time she has not contacted the Manager or Director directly when she has had an opportunity to do so; proof of the inability to contact the Employer is the responsibility of the Employee;
  - (c) fails to notify the Employer in writing six (6) weeks before the expiry of a sabbatical leave of absence whether or not she intends to return to her position. The Employer will write to the Employee by registered mail to remind them of this deadline eight (8) weeks before the expiry of a sabbatical leave of absence.
  - (d) fails to return to work upon termination of an authorized leave of absence within three (3) working days, unless a reasonable explanation is given.
- 13.07 The Employer shall notify the Local, within ten (10) working days, in writing, of an Employee's termination or suspension. Details leading up to the termination or suspension of an Employee will be submitted to the Local, provided the Employee gives her written permission.
- 13.08 Grievances relating to disciplinary measures shall be initiated at Step 2 of the grievance procedure.

- 13.09 All documents referring to any disciplinary action shall be removed from the Employee's personnel file eighteen (18) months after the date of the final resolution and be destroyed.
- 13.10 Where an expression of dissatisfaction is found to be unjustified, all documentation referring to such expression/disciplinary action shall be removed from the Employee's personnel file and destroyed immediately.

#### ARTICLE 14 – PROBATIONARY EMPLOYEE

- 14.01 The parties agree that with reference to probationary Employees:
  - (a) All Employees shall be considered probationary Employees until they have been employed for eighty (80) working days or, in the case of shift workers, one hundred and twenty (120) working days. For the purposes of calculating probation, each seven (7) hours worked shall be considered one (1) day worked. For the purpose of this provision, hours worked shall be paid time, with the exception of any leave granted pursuant to Article 26.
  - (b) For part-time Employees, Article 14.01(a) shall apply on a pro-rated basis.
  - (c) During the probationary period, the Employer may terminate the employment of such Employee, if the Employee is found unsuitable. It is understood that the termination of a probationary Employee is not grievable unless the Union or the Employee claims a breach of Article 3. Where it is alleged that the Employer has engaged in a violation of Article 3, the party making the allegation at the time of filing the grievance, shall provide particulars.
  - (d) It is understood that the probationary Employee has all the rights and benefits of the Agreement except those rights and benefits provided by Article 13 (Disciplinary Measures), Article 15 (Seniority), Article 16 (Layoff, Bumping, Recall) and Article 17 (Vacancies and Transfers), or as otherwise specifically excluded by this Agreement. An Employee who has completed her probationary period will retain her seniority from the date of hire.
  - (e) The Employer shall provide a mid-probation report, in writing, to each probationary Employee, within seven (7) working days of passing the mid-point of the probationary period.
  - (f) The Employer shall provide a written evaluation to each probationary Employee, prior to the completion of the Employee's probationary period.
  - (g) Probationary periods may only be extended with the written consent of the probationary Employee, the President of the Local or her designate, and the Association. It is understood and agreed that any extension to the probationary period will not exceed the original probationary period.
  - (h) No Employee on probation shall be expected to perform on-call or stand-by duties until she has worked twenty-five (25) days. The Manager will be available for back-up support until the mid-probation report is completed.
- 14.02 A probationary Employee shall receive written notice of five (5) working days prior to the termination date of probation as to whether or not she has successfully completed her probation.
- 14.03 Employees who have completed said probationary period and have been retained by the Employer at the expiration thereof, shall be considered as regular Employees and shall be credited with seniority from date of hiring.

#### 14.04 <u>Trial Period</u>

- (a) For the purpose of calculating trial periods, each seven (7) hours worked shall be considered one (1) day worked.
- (b) When appointed, hired or transferred to a different position within the bargaining unit, the Employee shall have a trial period equal to 60% of the probationary period of the position she is moving into, as outlined in the probationary periods of Article 14.01(a). If an Employee is unable to perform the duties of the position satisfactory to the Association, or if the Employee finds the position unsatisfactory, the Employee shall be returned to her former position without loss of seniority or benefits. Any other Employee who had been transferred or appointed due to the initial transfer or appointment shall be returned to her former position.
- (c) The Employer shall provide a mid-trial period report, in writing, to each Employee, within five (5) working days of passing the mid-point of the trial period. This report will relate directly to the areas that pertain specifically to the new job requirements.

#### ARTICLE 15 – SENIORITY

- 15.01 Seniority shall be defined as the length of paid employment and shall, subject to the other provisions of this Agreement, be on a bargaining unit wide basis, and shall apply in determining preference for appointments, transfers, demotions, and layoffs.
- 15.02 In October and April of each year, seniority lists shall be posted in each centre as listed in Article 6.01, and a copy shall be given to the Local. Within sixty (60) calendar days of the posting of the seniority list, if an Employee objects to her position on the seniority list, and after failing to resolve the dispute with the Chief Executive Officer or her designate, she may file a grievance under Article 11. An Employee returning from a leave pursuant to Articles 24, 25, and 26 has sixty (60) calendar days from her return date to confirm seniority pursuant to the list. At the end of the sixty (60) day periods, the seniority list shall be deemed to be correct.
- 15.03 Seniority shall cease, and employment shall be terminated when an Employee:
  - (a) voluntarily quits her employment with the Employer;
  - (b) is terminated and is not reinstated through the grievance procedure or arbitration;
  - (c) has been on layoff for a continuous period of twenty-four (24) months;
  - (d) is terminated under Article 13.
- 15.04 Seniority shall accumulate only in the following circumstances, when the Employee is:
  - (a) absent from work due to layoff, in which case seniority shall continue to accumulate for a period equal to twenty-four (24) months;
  - (b) absent from work due to sickness or accident, in which case seniority shall continue to accumulate for a period equal to one (1) year;
  - (c) off the payroll due to personal leave of absence (including prepaid leave plans); then seniority shall continue to accumulate for up to one (1) year of such leave;
  - (d) off the payroll due to sabbatical leave of absence; then seniority shall continue to accumulate for up to four months;
  - (e) absent on vacation or on paid holidays;
  - (f) on pregnancy/parental leaves;
  - (g) actually at work for the Employer.
- 15.05 In the event that more than one Employee has the same date of hire, they shall have their seniority expressed on the basis of number of hours worked; failing this they shall be selected by lottery in the presence of the Employees affected.

- (a) Should an Employee who has been a contract Employee, (whether in the bargaining unit or not), become a permanent Employee, her seniority shall date from the commencement of her continuous employment with the Employer. It is agreed that breaks of less than two (2) calendar months between each contract would not be considered a break in continuous employment for the purposes of this Article.
- (b) Should a relief or sessional Employee become a permanent Employee, their seniority date will include the pro-rated hours of work performed in the one (1) year period immediately preceding the date of hire into the permanent position. For the purposes of calculating seniority, each seven (7) hours of work will equal one (1) day worked.
- (c) Where a staff has worked contract and one of either relief or sessional in the one (1) year period immediately preceding the date of hire into the permanent position, her seniority date will include the greater of either (1) pro-rated hours of work performed as relief and/or sessional in the one-year period immediately preceding the date of hire into the permanent position or (2) the date of her continuous contract employment with the Employer.
- 15.06 In accordance with Article 17.06, an Employee who is temporarily appointed or selected to fill a management position shall not accrue seniority during the appointment period.

#### ARTICLE 16 – LAYOFF, BUMPING, RECALL

<u>Layoff</u>

- 16.01 A layoff shall be defined as a reduction in the work force or a reduction by the Employer in the regular hours of work as defined in this Agreement.
- 16.02 A departmental restructuring such that one or more jobs require reclassification or a job reclassification that changes the minimum requirements necessary to perform the job as defined in the job description shall also be defined as a layoff.
- 16.03 The Association will meet with the Local through the Labour Management Committee at least five (5) working days prior to a written notification of a layoff to the Employee(s) affected to review the following:
  - (i) the reason causing the layoff;
  - (ii) the service the Association will undertake after the layoff;
  - (iii) the method of implementation including the areas of cut-back and Employees to be laid off;
  - (iv) ways the Association can assist Employees to find alternate employment.

This amendment applies to notice of layoff given on or after date of ratification by both parties. Where notice of layoff is given prior to date of ratification by both parties, the previous notice requirements apply.

- 16.04 Any Agreement between the Association and the Local resulting from the review described in Article 16.03 concerning the method of implementation will take precedence over the terms of layoff in this Agreement.
- 16.05 (a) The Employer shall notify the Local and affected Employees in writing of the layoff at the earliest possible date, but no later than fifty (50) working days prior to the effective date of layoff. An affected Employee not having the opportunity to work the number of days as set out in this Article shall be paid for the number of days for which work was not made available. The fifty (50) working day period does not apply in the case of a bumped Employee.
  - (b) Employees who are to be laid off will **receive written notification** in person by the Chief Executive Officer or her designate at the earliest possible date (with the Manager, or her designate present).
- 16.06 If an Employee is on sick leave, Long-Term Disability leave, leave of absence, pregnancy/parental leave, or vacation at the time she is laid off or bumped, she shall be notified by registered letter. The time limits specified in Article 16.12(1) will apply from the time she reports back to work or one (1) month after the official date of notification, whichever occurs first.

- 16.07 An Employee who has received official notification of layoff may request time off work, up to a maximum of three (3) days, to submit job applications and/or attend job interviews. Such time will be considered work time and will not be unreasonably withheld.
- 16.08 The Employer shall assist the Employees affected by a layoff to find alternative employment. If there is a vacancy within the Association and an Employee has the minimum requirements listed in the job description, she will be offered an interview.
- 16.09 An altered position will be considered a new position and must be posted when changes made to the position include any one of the following:
  - (1) A permanent increase/decrease of more than seven (7) hours per week;
  - (2) A change of responsibilities constituting more than one (1) level change;
  - (3) A change of responsibilities constituting more than 50% of an Employee's job;
  - (4) A contract position becomes a permanent position; or
  - (5) A change in qualifications that result in the Employee being unable to perform the job subject to Article 19.0**6**.

For greater clarity, where any of the above changes apply, the incumbent must be laid off and the position is considered a new position. Where the position is altered to a lesser degree than any of the changes enumerated above, the incumbent has the right to remain in the position or to choose layoff.

- 16.10 Every Employee who receives layoff notification and does not bump into another position will be reimbursed upon proof of an expenditure of up to \$500 for career counseling, relocation service, or other assistance in finding another position outside the Association.
- 16.11 Grievances concerning layoffs and recalls shall be initiated at Step 2 of the grievance procedure.

#### <u>Bumping</u>

- 16.12 The bumping procedure shall be as follows:
  - (1) Within fifteen (15) working days of receiving layoff notification, the affected Employee who chooses to bump, shall advise the President of the Local and the Director of Human Resources, in writing, of her intention to bump another Employee(s), including a list of up to three (3) positions and their locations into which she wishes to bump, ranked in order of preference, a cover letter, and an updated copy of her resume. Positions must be considered in the order of the Employee's preference. The Employee's choices shall be kept confidential by the President of the Local, or her designate, and the Director of Human Resources, or her designate, until it is the position being considered.

- (2) (a) Within three (3) working days of receipt of the Employee's intention to bump, the Employer shall notify the bumping Employee if she does not meet the qualifications as set out in the job description.
  - (b) Within seven (7) working days of receipt of the Employee's intention to bump and if she meets the minimum qualifications (including core competencies) as set out in the job description, the Employee shall be eligible to bump into that position. Notwithstanding the above, where the Employer has concerns regarding whether the Employee meets the minimum qualifications (including core competencies), the Employer shall interview the bumping Employee to ascertain whether that person is qualified to perform the work of the proposed bumped Employee. In the event that the Employer requires an interview, it shall notify the Local.
- (3) The Employer shall inform the bumping Employee and the Local of her decision in writing no later than three (3) working days after the last interview.
- (4) The Employee shall inform the Employer of her intention to accept the position no later than two (2) working days after receiving the Employer's decision. The Employee's decision shall be confirmed in writing.
- (5) On receiving notice of the Employee's intention to accept the position, the Employer shall immediately give formal layoff notice to the bumped Employee and inform the President of the Local. The fifty (50) day layoff notification provided for in Article 16.05(a) does not apply in the case of a bumped Employee.
- (6) The timelines in Article 16.12 (1) progressively decrease according to the number of Employees affected. Notwithstanding the above, no bumped Employee will have less than five (5) working days to exercise their bumping rights.
- 16.13 (a) An Employee who bumps into a position at a lower level shall receive the amount of salary for the higher position for a period of 6 (six) months, after which she shall receive the salary for the lower level position at her present step.
  - (b) An Employee who bumps into a position at a higher level shall move to a step in that level which gives her a salary increase of no less than 3%.

#### <u>Recall</u>

- 16.14 An Employee retains the rights of layoff and recall for a period of twenty-four (24) months from effective day of layoff.
- 16.15 No new Employees shall be hired until all those laid off have been given an opportunity to return to work and have failed to do so, have been found unable to perform the work available or have exhausted their recall rights.

- 16.16 An Employee shall have opportunity of recall from a layoff to an available opening, in order of seniority, based on her qualifications, performance, related experience, and ability to perform the work competently. The posting procedure in the Collective Agreement shall not apply until those on recall have been notified. An Employee who is recalled shall be credited with her full seniority rights.
- 16.17 The laid-off Employee shall have the right to give two (2) weeks' notice to a new Employer should she agree to return to employment with the YWCA Toronto.
- 16.18 An Employee who accepts a contract, sessional or relief position with the Association while on layoff shall retain her layoff rights, as defined by the Collective Agreement.
- 16.19 If an Employee is laid off from a position and that same position is reinstated without a change to the job description within twenty-four (24) months, the original incumbent shall receive an offer of recall concurrent with posting the position. Such offer must be accepted within the internal posting period.
- 16.20 If an Employee chooses to waive her rights as per Article 16.14, she may be entitled to severance pay in accordance with the Employment Standards Act, 2000, as may be amended from time to time.

#### ARTICLE 17 – VACANCIES AND TRANSFERS

- 17.01 (a) The Employer agrees that when new bargaining unit jobs are created, or a job vacancy occurs, notice of the new job or vacancy shall be posted for ten (10) calendar days in all centres. Jobs may be advertised outside concurrently.
  - (b) All internal applicants who have the minimum requirements listed in the job description will be offered an interview prior to external candidates. All internal applicants who have not been given an interview shall be given reasons in writing within seven (7) working days of the internal deadline date. All internal applicants who are granted interviews but not offered the position shall be notified in writing before external applicants may be interviewed. The Employer will provide copies of the correspondence required by this Article 17.01(b) to the Union.
  - (c) The Employer reserves the right to restructure the organization and to leave vacant or eliminate a bargaining unit position when the position is vacant.
  - (d) Elimination of a vacant position shall be accompanied by notice to the Local.
  - (e) A decision by the Employer to leave vacant or eliminate a bargaining unit position is not grievable.
- 17.02 (a) For clarity, the priority sequence for filling a position in the bargaining unit shall be laid off Employees who have bumping rights, followed by recall, followed by internal secondment, the internal application process and followed by the external application process.
  - (b) (i) Selection of an Employee to fill a new job or vacancy shall be based on the Employee's meeting the minimum requirements as listed in the job description, her performance, related experience, and assessment at the interview that she is reasonably capable of competently performing the requirements of the position. At the discretion of the Employer, experience may be recognized as equivalency for educational requirements.
    - (ii) When two (2) or more internal candidates are relatively equal in the qualifications listed in section 17.02 (b)(i), the Employee with the greater seniority shall be selected.
  - (c) An Employee who has not applied for a position prior to any internal closing date established for the selection process, and in such circumstances shall be considered along with any other external candidates but shall not be entitled to the preferential consideration accorded to an internal candidate under this Article.
  - (d) An Employee who wishes to upgrade her skills in order to obtain a different position within the Association should advise her Supervisor of this in writing. The Employer will then advise her on ways which this may be accomplished.

- 17.03 Where a change in location of office of an Employee is contemplated, the Supervisor shall consult with the Employee concerned and subsequently make reasonable efforts to effect a solution of mutual convenience. Where this is not possible, the Employer has the right to implement the change as a condition of continued employment.
- 17.04 Except as provided under Article 17.06, any Employee who transfers to another position or fills a vacancy in another department shall carry her full seniority rights with her. Her anniversary date, for purposes of step increases and benefits shall remain the same as her original date of hiring.
- 17.05 The Employer shall make reasonable efforts to fill the vacancy or new position with sufficient time for the new Employee and the Employee (if applicable) vacating the position, to work together for not less than one (1) week. To enable this to happen, Employees who are resigning are encouraged to give at least one (1) months' notice. If, in spite of such efforts, the position remains vacant, with no overlap for a period of fifteen (15) working days, then the Employer shall meet at the request of representatives of the Local to discuss both the progress in hiring for the position and temporary arrangements for coverage of the position.
- 17.06 Notwithstanding any other provisions in this Collective Agreement, an Employee who is temporarily appointed to fill a management position shall cease to have rights under the Collective Agreement except as otherwise provided in this Article. Such Employee shall not accrue seniority rights during the appointment and upon return to the bargaining unit will have her seniority adjusted accordingly. Such Employee shall not pay Union dues during this appointment. An appointment shall not exceed six (6) months unless mutually agreed to in writing by both parties and under no circumstances will such appointment exceed twelve (12) months except in the case of contracts replacing parental leaves, which can be extended up to eighteen (18) months. No appointment under this Article shall be to a position that includes the ability to terminate members of the bargaining unit. At the completion of the appointment the Employee shall be returned to her previous bargaining unit position or, in the case of layoff, Article 16 applies, and she shall resume her rights under the Collective Agreement.
- 17.07 Supervisors shall be responsible for on-the-job orientation of new Employees. In the event that an Employee cannot be hired in sufficient time to work with the Employee vacating the position, the Supervisor may request a member of the bargaining unit to assist in the on-the-job orientation of the new Employee provided the assistance given does not result in an undue workload.
- 17.08 No Employee shall be transferred to another position without her consent.

- 17.09 The Employer shall, at the time of hiring, provide all new Employees with a letter stating:
  - (1) Starting salary
  - (2) Classification according to Appendix "A" of this Agreement
  - (3) Job description
  - (4) The number of hours per week that the Employee shall normally be required to work
  - (5) The names of her immediate Supervisor and her Management Supervisor.

A copy of the letter provided to each new Employee at the time of hiring shall be provided to the Local.

At the time of hiring, all new Employees will also receive a copy of the Collective Agreement and shall have the right to meet with a Union Steward, with the Supervisor's knowledge and at mutual convenience, for one hour during working time, within one month from the date of hiring.

17.10 An Employee shall have the right to grieve the assignment of an unreasonable workload.

# <u>ARTICLE 18 – HOURS OF WORK, OVERTIME, SHIFT SCHEDULES, MEAL BREAKS, STAND-BY, ON-CALL</u> <u>AND CALL-IN</u>

#### 18.01 <u>Hours of Work</u>

(a) The following is intended to define the normal hours of work for Employees but shall not be interpreted as a guarantee of hours of work per day or of work per week nor as a guarantee of work or work schedules.

The regularly scheduled hours for full-time Employees vary due to the flexible and diverse nature of services provided by the Employer.

In general, the hours of work for Employees can be separated into two categories: regularly scheduled Employees and shift workers.

## i) <u>Regularly Scheduled Employees:</u>

The regularly scheduled hours for full-time Employees will be seventy (70) hours over a two (2) week period (meal times excluded). The regularly scheduled hours for part-time Employees will be set out in their job description.

All regularly scheduled Employees shall have four (4) days off within this period. It is understood that for most Employees these days off will be Saturday and Sunday. A week is defined as beginning Sunday and ending Saturday.

While it is understood that many Employees normally work Monday to Friday, 9:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m., both parties also recognize that, due to the flexible nature of the services provided by the Employer, actual start and end times for Employees' work days vary depending on the need of the program/department.

An Employee's specific hours will be determined by the Supervisor in consultation and mutual agreement with the Employee. Failing mutual agreement, the appropriate Department Director shall meet with both parties involved in the dispute and, after hearing the arguments, make a final decision.

Where there is a change in an Employee's specific hours (start and end time) of greater than one hour, the Employee will be given at least four weeks' notice before the start of the new schedule.

ii) Shift Workers

Shift workers are those workers at the YWCA Women's Shelter, YWCA Arise, 1<sup>st</sup> Stop Woodlawn, and other Employees where applicable (e.g. Life Skills Trainers), who work rotating shift schedules and whose hours of work are averaged according to their shift schedule rotation.

A Shift Worker's or Life Skills Trainer's regular work day may be up to thirteen (13) hours per day.

(b) In the event that an Employee's regular work hours are changed, the Supervisor shall consult with other Employees (staff team) whose workload and/or working conditions are affected.

(c) It is understood that where the duties of a job are best accomplished through flexible hours, such an arrangement may be made between the Employee and the Manager in question.

For clarity the following provisions in Article 18 apply to all Employees, except where expressly stated otherwise.

# 18.02 <u>Overtime</u>

(a) If an Employee works:

Up to 40 hours a week - Employees can claim equivalent time off only.

41 hours and up - Employees can claim time and one half in equivalent time off or equivalent pay.

For the purpose of calculating an Employee's entitlement to overtime pay or lieu time, it is agreed that during the term of the contract, the regularly scheduled hours for full-time Employees will be seventy (70) hours over a two (2) week period (meal times excluded). The regularly scheduled hours for part-time Employees will be set out in their job description. All Employees shall have four (4) days off within this period. It is understood that for most Employees these days off will be Saturday and Sunday. A week is defined as beginning Sunday and ending Saturday.

The above provisions in this 18.02 (a) do not apply to shift workers who work at the YWCA Women's Shelter, YWCA Arise and 1<sup>st</sup> Stop Woodlawn and the Life Skills Trainers whose hours will be averaged according to their shift schedule rotation.

- (b) In a situation where Management requests an Employee to work in addition to her regular work day, straight time will be earned for the first two (2) overtime hours; time and one half (1.5) will be earned for any time over the first two overtime hours. No Employee shall be penalized for refusing to work overtime.
- (c) An Employee's hours of work per day may vary, but there can be no accumulation of unauthorized overtime at the end of each month. An Employee may not accumulate overtime unless it is authorized in advance by the Employee's Manager or her designate, or in the case of an emergency. On the Employee's next working day after the emergency, she shall provide a written explanation to her Manager or her designate for any unauthorized overtime earned.
- (d) The maximum number of hours of overtime to be accumulated as time in lieu of pay is thirty-five (35) hours. At no point should overtime exceed 35 hours in total, save and except special circumstances with authorization from the Manager or her designate. Overtime in excess of the 35 hours must be paid and is no longer credited to an Employee.
- (e) All lieu time off is to be taken at the discretion of the Employee with the approval of the Manager or her designate.

- (f) Lieu time off in compensation for authorized overtime must be taken within three (3) months of the end of the week in which the overtime was performed. Further extensions of time, to a maximum of twelve (12) months from the end of the week in which the overtime was performed, may be agreed to in writing between the Employee and her Supervisor. Such agreement shall not be unreasonably withheld by either party.
- (g) When an Employee intends to leave the employ of the Employer, she is encouraged to take any accumulated compensatory time as part of the notice period. On the date of severance, she shall receive cash payment for any unused overtime.
- (h) There shall be no doubling or pyramiding of premium compensation.

## 18.03 Shift Schedules for Shift Workers

The following provisions shall apply to shift workers at the YWCA Women's Shelter, YWCA Arise, 1<sup>st</sup> Stop Woodlawn and other Employees where applicable.

- (a) Shift schedules shall be determined by the Manager in consultation and mutual agreement with the Employees affected. Failing mutual agreement, the appropriate Department Director shall meet with all parties involved in the dispute and, after hearing the arguments, make a final decision.
- (b) Shift schedules shall be established in accordance with the following objectives:
  - (i) Six (6) weeks prior to the effective date of revision in shift schedules such revision will be discussed with representatives of the Local and affected Employees.
  - (ii) Employees who are not on stand-by shall not be required to work any shift(s) on their scheduled day(s) off and, with the exception of regularly scheduled staff meetings, such day(s) off shall not be split.
  - (iii) Employees shall not be required to work on consecutive paid holidays unless the Employee consents.
  - (iv) Employees shall have every third weekend (12:01 a.m. Saturday to 11:59 p.m. Sunday) as days off, unless the Employee has been specifically hired to work weekends or has agreed to work weekends for a specific period of time.
  - (v) There shall be no split shifts and a minimum of twelve (12) hours between regularly scheduled shifts with the exception of regularly scheduled staff meetings.
  - (vi) Employees who do shift work and are required to attend mandatory training and workshops will be compensated for their full shifts that conflict with this mandatory attendance. These absences from work must be authorized in advance by their Manager or her designate.

- (c) In the event Employees of their own accord for their own personal convenience wish to change shifts with appropriately qualified other Employees presently in the employ of the Employer, they shall first submit such requests (twenty-four hours in advance of the proposed change, or prior to Friday in the event of a weekend) to the Supervisor or her designate for written approval. Such approval shall not be unreasonably withheld. The Employer shall not be responsible or liable for overtime claims or holiday pay that might arise or accrue as a result of the exchange of shifts.
- (d) All shelter workers shall attend scheduled staff meetings as part of their basic work week. When overnight workers are required to attend staff meetings, the shift before and after will be booked off. This will not result in loss of hours or wages for any overnight worker.
- (e) Any shift worker who is on the Local Council shall be allowed time off shift to attend meetings. The Local shall pay for the coverage arranged by the Manager for the shift workers to attend the meetings, or overtime may be used for attendance at Local Council meetings if cleared with the Supervisor in advance, provided the hours do not exceed 5 hours per month. Such requests for time off shall not be unreasonably withheld.
- 18.04 <u>Meal Breaks</u>
  - (a) A one (1) hour meal break (unpaid) and two (2) fifteen (15) minutes paid breaks shall be allowed to all **Regularly Scheduled** Employees during the course of each full working day, except for the Employees that work at Elm Concierge desks on weekends, evenings and statutory holidays.
  - (b) Shift workers at the YWCA Women's Shelter, YWCA Arise, 1<sup>st</sup> Stop Woodlawn and those workers employed at the Elm Concierge desk on weekends, evenings and statutory holidays shall be allowed a one-half (.5) hour meal break (paid) after each five (5) consecutive hours worked. It is agreed that, where the requirements of the service so dictate, such shift workers will take their meal break in two (2) periods which total one-half (.5) hour. In addition, where the requirements of the service permits and coverage is available, shift workers may be provided the opportunity to take an additional fifteen (15) minute rest break. Such opportunity shall not be unreasonably denied. It is also agreed that such shift workers shall remain on the premises during their paid meal and rest breaks.
- 18.05 <u>Stand-by</u>
  - (a) Stand-by means the Employee may be called in for occasional emergencies, if available, or regularly receives calls at home outside of normal working hours but is not required to come into work.
  - (b) Emergency, stand-by and overtime, where necessary, shall be divided as equally as is practical among the Employees normally performing the work in question at the discretion of the Supervisor or her designate after consultation with the Employee(s).
  - (c) The Association agrees to make available to Housing and Shelter Employees stand-by personnel who will be accessible by cell phone.

- (d) An Employee who is on stand-by and receives and/or makes work-related calls will be credited with lieu time for a minimum of fifteen (15) minutes per incident.
- (e) It is understood that the Employer shall arrange to have a Management person with decision-making powers as back-up on-call by cell phone at all times. In situations where the Supervisor or on-call Management staff cannot be reached, it is understood that the Employees will have to make emergency decisions on their own. There shall be no recourse by the Employer for any decision made in accordance with the Procedures Manual and provided these decisions were reasonable and prudent.
- (f) Actual time worked during the time an Employee is on stand-by, including travel time, is considered work time if it is not covered by Article 18.02(b).
- (g) No Employee on probation shall be expected to perform stand-by duties until they have worked twenty-five (25) days. The Manager will be available for back-up support until the mid-probation report is completed.
- 18.06 <u>On-Call</u>
  - (a) On-call means carrying a cell phone and responding to calls and/or coming into work while on-call as necessary. On-call is not intended to cover planned Employee absences. An Employee on-call cannot leave the area during the period of on-call.
  - (b) An Employee who is on-call and receives and/or makes work-related calls will be credited with lieu time for a minimum of fifteen (15) minutes per incident.
  - (c) It is understood that the Employer shall arrange to have a Management person with decision-making powers as back-up on-call by cell phone at all times. In situations where the Supervisor or on-call Management staff cannot be reached, it is understood that the Employees will have to make emergency decisions on their own. There shall be no recourse by the Employer for any decision made in accordance with the Procedures Manual and provided these decisions were reasonable and prudent.
  - (d) Actual time worked during the time an Employee is on-call, including travel time, is considered work time if it is not covered by Article 18.02 (b).
  - (e) No Employee on probation shall be expected to perform on-call duties until they have worked twenty-five (25) days. The Manager will be available for back-up support until the mid-probation report is completed.
- 18.07 <u>Call-in</u>

Any Employee who is called into work while on-call (or stand-by) or called in by her Supervisor or her Management designate, outside of her scheduled workday, shall be guaranteed a minimum of three (3) hours overtime at the rate of time-and-one-half (1.5). Travel time to work is to be included.

# ARTICLE 19 – EMPLOYEE DEVELOPMENT

- 19.01 Every Employee is entitled to access to training opportunities which are designed to enhance her job performance, and which meet both the needs of the Employees and the requirements of the Employer. Every Employee has access to monies granted dependent on the resources available in the program/department budget, and on how the training opportunity is related to work responsibilities, as agreed upon by the Employee and her Supervisor.
- 19.02 Priorities for Employee development will be for those Employees who:
  - (1) have jobs which are in the process of being changed and who need additional development in order to perform the new responsibilities; or
  - (2) have previously had no educational opportunity as part of their employment; or
  - (3) have requested an educational opportunity.

Where an educational opportunity is appropriate for two (2) Employees or more, priority will be given to the Employee who has:

- (a) fewer previous educational opportunities as part of her employment; or
- (b) greater seniority.
- 19.03 In addition, the Association will also promote, and dependent on resources, provide for educational opportunities for growth and development that enable Employees to be promoted within the Association. Reasonable requests for time off or flexible scheduling will not be unreasonably withheld.
- 19.04 The Employer will advise the Employees of training/educational opportunities for Employee development on an ongoing basis and every reasonable effort will be made to provide Employees with pertinent information, e.g. notices of seminars, courses, workshops, etc. Requests for time off or flexible scheduling will not be unreasonably withheld.
- 19.05 The Employer shall continue to provide a program of Employee Development by in-service training through:
  - Supervision and Team Meetings
  - Total Staff Meetings
  - Department Staff Meetings
  - Orientation for New Staff
  - Workshops

The Employer reserves the right to make some in-service training compulsory. Failure to attend without valid reason on the part of the Employee may result in disciplinary measures.

- 19.06 In the event of technological change, the Employee affected shall receive training according to standards generally accepted in the field as adequate preparation. An Employee cannot unreasonably refuse to attend any required training; however, the training shall be arranged in consultation with, and with consideration for, the needs of the Employee(s) involved and the Employer.
- 19.07 No entry of a detrimental nature with respect to performance on new technology will be put in an Employee's evaluation until she has completed her training in accordance with Article 19.06.
- 19.08 Time spent at training opportunities approved pursuant to Article 19.01 and 19.06 shall be considered work time.

# **ARTICLE 20 – PROVISIONS FOR FAMILIES**

- 20.01 Upon receipt of a child's proof of age (i.e. government issued document), the Employer shall pay to each Employee who has one or more children under the age of twelve (12), eighty-five dollars (\$85) per month per child to help defray the cost of childcare, retroactive to a maximum of three (3) months of benefits. An Employee on a personal leave of absence or on pregnancy/parental leave will not be entitled to receive this benefit.
- 20.02 All Employees, their spouses and dependent children are entitled to a 20% discount on all programs including resident camp.
- 20.03 Nothing in the above provisions shall give the Employer the right to discriminate against job applicants because of the number of dependants they may have.

#### ARTICLE 21 – EMPLOYEE PROTECTION

- 21.01 (a) The Employer shall take every reasonable precaution to protect an Employee, or Employees, in the case of a work-related threat or intimidation to an Employee's personal safety.
  - (b) Whoever, Employer or Employee, receives the threat or intimidation, shall notify the other party of the incident immediately. The Employer shall be responsible for instituting and maintaining a workable procedure for monitoring such incidents.
  - (c) The Employer will ensure that every site has a security protocol.
- 21.02 The Employee may apply to the Employer for financial assistance and/or legal counsel for legal representation. If, in the opinion of the Employer, the matter relates to authorized activities, the Employer will pay the legal expenses and any lost wages of Employees involved, for court attendance and meetings with lawyers and in cases where an Employee has been assaulted, or witnesses an assault in the course of authorized activities, reasonable time off that is required to deal with the Employee's recovery, at the Employer's discretion. In granting any application in this regard, the Employer reserves the right to fix the limit of the financial commitment, if any, as the circumstances may require. If an Employee is assaulted in the course of her authorized duties she may, at her discretion, authorize the police to press charges against the assailant.
- 21.03 The Employer will reimburse an Employee for reasonable expenses if she is required to travel to or from work between the hours of 10 p.m. and 6 a.m., and there are safety concerns. These expenses will cover taxi expenses from work to the nearest subway station, or from the subway station closest to her residence, to home.
- 21.04 The Employer shall indemnify any Employee from any claim arising out of:
  - (1) The application of first aid in the course of employment provided that the Employee has exercised reasonable care; and
  - (2) The loss or theft of any medication taken in safekeeping from a participant provided that the Employee has exercised reasonable care.
- 21.05 (a) The Employer shall provide training in self-defense for direct service Employees who are factored for high-risk contact. Such training shall be mandatory and offered at the earliest opportunity, but no later than three (3) months after the date of hire wherever possible. Any staff may receive training in self-defense if she and her Supervisor agree that she may be in physical danger in the normal course of her duties. Such training shall be offered at the earliest opportunity, but not later than three (3) months after the date of hire. Should an Employee decide after this time that she needs the training, it shall be offered to her within three (3) months of her request, subject to availability.
  - (b) All direct service Employees have the right to receive training in CPR and First Aid. The cost of this training shall be borne by the Association.

- 21.06 The Employer agrees to ensure building security in consultation with the police and fire departments. The Employer shall ensure that annual security and safety inspections are made of all buildings.
- 21.07 Where working conditions may be hazardous to a pregnant Employee, the Employee may exchange positions with another Employee with the agreement of the Employer, provided each Employee is capable of performing the work of the other and is otherwise entitled thereto by virtue of seniority. There shall be no loss of pay to either Employee.
- 21.08 (a) The Union and Employer recognize the right of Employees to work in an environment free from harassment as outlined in Article 3 of this Agreement, the YWCA Toronto Workplace Discrimination and Harassment Policy, the YWCA Toronto Workplace Violence Prevention Policy and the Human Rights Code. Therefore, the Union and the Employer agree to co-operate in resolving any complaints of harassment which may arise in the workplace.

The Association agrees to provide all new staff with the Workplace Discrimination and Harassment Policy and the Workplace Violence Prevention Policy.

(b) The Employee may initiate a grievance under this clause at any step of the grievance procedure. Grievances under this clause will be handled with all possible confidentiality and dispatch.

# ARTICLE 22 – PAID HOLIDAYS

22.01 (a) The following paid holidays, regardless of when they fall, will be granted with pay to all full-time Employees:

New Year's Day	Canada Day
Family Day	Civic Holiday
Good Friday	Labour Day
Easter Monday	Thanksgiving Day
Victoria Day	Christmas Day
Boxing Day	

- (b) Part-time Employees shall receive the above holidays on a prorated basis.
- (c) Employees who observe religious holidays other than those listed above are guaranteed time off to observe such holidays. At the discretion of the Employee, this time shall be taken in lieu of statutory holidays, as accumulated overtime, as vacation time, as float days, or as time off without pay. At the beginning of each calendar year, any Employee who wishes to take time off to observe these holidays should notify her Manager as soon as possible.
- 22.02 If an Employee is required to work on a paid holiday (as per Article 22.01 (a)), she shall be paid her regular wages for the day and shall be given hours in lieu at the rate of two (2) times her hourly rate for the hours worked on the paid holiday.
- 22.03 When a paid holiday referred to in Article 22.01 falls within an Employee's vacation or on a day which is not the regular work day of a shift worker (full or part-time), she shall have the right to take another day off at a time mutually convenient to the Employee and Supervisor.
- 22.04 Time off with pay shall be granted for four (4) "float days" to full-time and part-time staff. For full-time Employees, a "float day" shall be defined as seven (7) hours. Part-time Employees shall receive these benefits on a pro-rated basis. They must be taken at any time other than vacation of more than two (2) weeks. For the purpose of this clause, these four (4) "float days" shall be granted only to Employees who have completed their probationary period. These may be taken around Christmas or New Year's Day; where coverage needs to be ensured, decisions as to specific days will be made according to seniority. Dates on which these additional days may be taken will be mutually agreed upon between the Employee and the Supervisor. There is no conversion of these four (4) "float days" into salary. These days are to be calculated within a calendar year from January to December and may not be cumulative. Float days are prorated wherever an Employee does not work a full year.
- 22.05 In addition to the present statutory holidays, any other statutory holidays proclaimed by the Federal or Provincial Governments shall be granted.

# ARTICLE 23 – VACATIONS

23.01 (a) An Employee shall receive an annual vacation with full pay according to her years of employment as follows:

Years of Service	Full Time
0 years – completion of <b>5</b> years	20 days (1.67 days/month)
5-year <b>anniversary month</b> – completion of <b>10</b> years	21 days (1.75 days/month)
10-year <b>anniversary</b> <b>month</b> – completion of <b>14</b> years	22 days (1.84 days/month)
14-year <b>anniversary</b> <b>month</b> – completion of <b>16</b> years	23 days (1.92 days/month)
16-year <b>anniversary</b> <b>month</b> – completion of <b>20</b> years	25 days (2.09 days/month)
20-year <b>anniversary</b> <b>month</b> – completion of <b>25</b> years	27 days (2.25 days/month)
25-year <b>anniversary</b> <b>month</b> +	30 days (2.50 days/month)

# Note: For the purposes of this Article, anniversary month means the first day of the month in which the anniversary falls.

(b) Part-time Employees shall receive the full vacation period provided for in this clause, and the amount of vacation pay received for such period shall be prorated.

# 23.02 Effective January 1, 2019

- (a) For all permanent full-time Employees who have completed their probationary period, their full vacation credits for the year are granted to them each January 1<sup>st</sup> and it is expected that they will be taken in full by the end of the calendar year (i.e. December 31<sup>st</sup>) subject to Article 23.06.
- (b) January 1<sup>st</sup> will be the anniversary date for vacations. Employees who begin employment after January 1<sup>st</sup> in a given vacation year will have their vacation prorated for the period between the date of first day of employment and the following December 31<sup>st</sup>.
- (c) For Employees who are terminated or who resign, their vacation entitlement shall be limited to a pro-rated calculation between January 1<sup>st</sup> and their termination/resignation date. Any deficit vacation credits will be deducted from the Employee's final earnings. Should the deficit be greater than the final pay, the Employee will be required to repay any outstanding balance to the Employer in a timely fashion.
- 23.03 Vacations may be taken at any time of the year suitable to both the Employer's services and to the Employee. When it is necessary to choose vacation periods to ensure coverage and the provision of service, choice shall be made in order of seniority, on a department-wide basis.
- 23.04 (a) Vacation entitlement in any one year will not be affected by sick leave. Annual vacation entitlements will be prorated if the Employee takes an unpaid leave of absence (except for pregnancy/parental leaves.)
  - (b) Any deficit vacation credits prior to an Employee's leave of absence will be deducted from the Employee's final earnings. Should the deficit be greater than the final pay, the Employee will be required to repay any outstanding balance to the Employer in a timely fashion.
- 23.05 On termination of employment, an Employee shall be paid for all vacation days earned and not used by her final day at work.
- 23.06 On September 15<sup>th</sup> of each year, the Employer shall provide each Employee with a written statement of her accumulated vacation credits as of August 31<sup>st</sup> of the same year. This written notice shall also state that these credits must be used by December 31<sup>st</sup> of the same year. No vacation credits shall be carried forward to a subsequent year unless a "Special Request Staff Vacation Carry-Over" form is submitted and approved by the Manager, Director and the Director of Human Resources, or their designates. This form is due by November 1<sup>st</sup> of the current year. The maximum amount of vacation credits an Employee can request to carry forward through a "Special Request Staff Vacation Carry-Over" form is three days to be used no later than January 15<sup>th</sup> in the following year.

#### ARTICLE 24 – SICK LEAVE

- 24.01 (a) On commencement of employment each Employee shall begin to accumulate sick leave credits at the rate of 1.5 working days per month up to a maximum accumulation of 135 days.
  - (b) A medical certificate may be required after absence due to illness of five (5) consecutive work days, or where there is reason to question the absence and such reason is communicated to the Employee and the Local in writing. If the Employee incurs any expense in obtaining such a certificate, the Employer will reimburse the Employee.
- 24.02 Part-time Employees will be credited with the sick leave credits specified in 24.01 on a prorated basis.
- 24.03 (a) An Employee may choose to use her own sick leave time in order to care for a sick child for whom she is normally responsible, or a spouse, with the knowledge that this will be charged against accumulated sick time.
  - (b) Time off for medical, dental, and extended health care appointments taken during working hours may be charged against accumulated sick time.
  - (c) An Employee may choose to use her sick leave time, up to a maximum of five (5) working days per calendar year, in order to care for the Employee's parent or spouse's parent who is dependent upon the Employee for care.
- 24.04 Special requests for extension of sick leave may be referred to the Chief Executive Officer or her designate, for consideration.
- 24.05 On January 15<sup>th</sup> of each year, the Employer shall provide each Employee with a written statement of her accumulated sick leave credits.
- 24.06 The Employer may require that an Employee visit a medical doctor where intermittent absences result in an accumulation of more than ten (10) working days in any two (2) month period.
- 24.07 In the event that an Employee is ill for three (3) consecutive days or more during her vacation, she may apply to the Director or her designate and, on presentation of a medical certificate, shall have that time charged against her accumulated sick leave and shall be credited with compensatory vacation time.
- 24.08 An Employee shall be allowed to use up to six (6) days of sick leave time per calendar year as health promotion days. All health promotion days must be approved in advance by the Employee's Supervisor. Such permission shall not be unreasonably withheld.

## **ARTICLE 25 – PREGNANCY / PARENTAL LEAVE**

- 25.01 Pregnancy and Parental Leaves will be granted in accordance with the Employment Standards Act, 2000 of Ontario unless otherwise amended.
  - (a) An Employee who is pregnant shall be entitled, upon application, to Pregnancy Leave and Parental Leave immediately thereafter. Pregnancy Leave shall be granted for seventeen (17) weeks, as provided in the Employment Standards Act, 2000, and may begin no earlier than seventeen (17) weeks before the expected birth date.

The Employee shall give the Employer four (4) weeks notice, in writing, of the day upon which she intends to commence her leave of absence, unless impossible, and furnish the Employer with a certificate of a legally qualified medical practitioner stating that she is pregnant and giving the estimated day upon which delivery will occur.

The Employee must have started employment at least thirteen (13) weeks prior to the expected date of birth.

The Employee shall give at least two (2) weeks notice of her intention to return to work. The Employee may, with the consent of the Employer, shorten the duration of the leave of absence requested under this Article upon giving the Employer two (2) weeks notice of her intention to do so, and furnishing the Employer with a certificate of a legally qualified medical practitioner stating that she is able to resume her work.

An additional leave of absence may be taken under Article 25.03(a) Parental Leave.

- (b) During the period of leave, the Employee may continue benefit coverage and, in such case, the Employee and the Employer shall continue to pay their respective share of the cost.
- (c) An Employee who intends to resume her employment on the expiration of the leave of absence granted to her under this Article shall so advise the Employer when she requests the leave of absence. If a full-time Employee returns to work by the expiry of the normal Pregnancy or Parental Leave, the Employee will be returned to her former job and former shift, if her shift was designated.

All Employees who fill vacancies as a result of the above absences shall likewise be returned to their former permanent positions.

- (d) Such absence is not an illness under the interpretation of this Agreement, and sick leave benefits cannot be used.
- (e) Credits for service for the purpose of salary increments, vacations, or any other benefit included and prescribed under the Employment Standards Act, 2000 shall continue and seniority shall accumulate during the leave. For greater clarity, vacation credits earned are for paid vacations.

(f) Upon expiry of seventeen (17) weeks Pregnancy Leave, an Employee may immediately commence Parental Leave, as provided under the Parental Leave provisions of this Agreement. The Employee shall give the Employer at least two (2) weeks notice, in writing, that she intends to take Parental Leave.

# 25.02 <u>Supplementary Employment Benefit (SEB) - Pregnancy Leave</u>

Employees eligible to receive Employment Insurance benefits pursuant to Section 18 of the Employment Insurance Act shall be paid a Pregnancy Leave allowance in accordance with the Supplementary Employment Benefit Plan. Under the Employment Insurance Act an Employee is eligible to receive benefits for a period of up to fifteen (15) weeks. The Employer shall pay 20% of her regular weekly earnings for the period of time the Employee has qualified for benefits.

## 25.03 Parental Leave

- (a) An Employee who becomes a parent and who has been employed for at least thirteen
   (13) weeks immediately preceding the date of birth of child or the date the child first came into care or custody of the Employee, shall be entitled to Parental Leave.
- (b) A "parent" includes the natural mother or father of the child, a person with whom a child is placed for adoption, and a person who is in a relationship with the parent of the child and who intends to treat the child as her own.
- (c) Parental Leave must begin within thirty-five (35) weeks of the birth of the child or within thirty-five (35) weeks of the day the child first came into the custody, care and control of the parent. For Employees on Pregnancy Leave, Parental Leave will begin immediately after Pregnancy Leave expires.

**Birth mothers who take** Parental Leave shall be granted for up to **sixty-one (61)** weeks in duration. If the Employee did not take Pregnancy Leave, Parental Leave shall be granted for up to **sixty-three (63)** weeks in duration. In all cases, Parental Leave must be completed within **seventy-eight (78)** weeks of the date the child is born, or comes into the custody, care and control of a parent for the first time.

## 25.04 Supplementary Employment Benefit (SEB) - Parental Leave

Employees eligible to receive Employment Insurance benefits pursuant to Section 18 of the Employment Insurance Act shall be paid a Parental Leave allowance in accordance with the Supplementary Employment Benefit Plan. Under the Employment Insurance Act, an Employee is eligible to receive **Standard Parental Benefits or Extended Parental Benefits**.

# (a) <u>Standard Parental Benefits</u>

Employees are eligible to receive Employment Insurance benefits for a period of up to thirty-five (35) weeks. The Employer shall pay 20% of her regular weekly earnings for the period of time the Employee has qualified for benefits.

# (b) Extended Parental Benefits

Employees are eligible to receive Employment Insurance benefits for a period of up to sixty-one (61) weeks. The Employer shall pay 13.33% of her regular weekly earnings for the period of time the Employee has qualified for benefits (for Employees taking the full sixty-one weeks).

An Employee who chooses to take an extended parental leave less that 61 weeks will be entitled to a prorated payment from the Employer that equals the 20% topup they would receive had they taken the standard parental leave benefits.

Any SEB payment for extended parental leave shall not exceed the total amount eligible under Standard Parental Leave.

# ARTICLE 26 – SPECIAL LEAVES

#### 26.01 Jury Duty

Leave with pay will be allowed to Employees called for Jury Duty. Any payments received from the Court must be reimbursed to the Employer.

#### 26.02 <u>Sabbatical Leave</u>

Requests for sabbatical leave without pay must be submitted to the Manager, in writing, as early as possible and at least eight (8) weeks in advance of the proposed leave taking. Permission for such leaves shall not be unreasonably withheld.

(a) The Employer agrees that Employees shall be entitled to up to one (1) year unpaid leave of absence. Such leave shall be granted pursuant to the following schedule:

After three (3) years of seniority, an Employee is entitled to an unpaid leave of absence, up to one (1) year. On return from her first leave of absence, she is required to accumulate another three (3) years of seniority before she can request a second unpaid leave of absence, up to one (1) year. On return from her second leave of absence, she is required to accumulate another two (2) years of seniority before she can request a third unpaid leave of absence, up to one (1) year. Thereafter, such leave shall be granted once for every two (2) years of seniority.

Such leave shall be approved by the Chief Executive Officer and such approval shall not be unreasonably withheld. For the purpose of this Article, the calculation of seniority will not include the time the Employee is on the unpaid leave of absence.

- (b) Years of service for the purpose of vacation pay and seniority shall accumulate for four (4) months.
- (c) The Employee shall be entitled to return to her former position or, in the case of layoff, to another position according to Article 16.

## 26.03 Pre-Paid Leave Plan

The Employer agrees to make a "Pre-Paid Leave Plan" available to all Employees wishing to work for the Association for four (4) years earning 4/5 salary and full benefits over the four (4) years and then to have a full year leave with 4/5 salary. An Employee must have passed their probation to be eligible to apply for a pre-paid leave.

## 26.04 Compassionate Leave

(a) Leave with pay will be granted for serious illness or bereavement of the Employee's spouse, parent, child, sister, brother, grandparents, partner or partner's child or parents as outlined below. Notification outlining reason must be provided to the Manager prior to a leave being granted.

- (i) Bereavement: up to five (5) working days (the timing of such days to be requested by the Employee)
- (ii) Serious Illness: up to five (5) working days per calendar year
- (b) Under special circumstances, such as long distance, an extension of these times shall be granted without pay in consultation with the Supervisor. Such time extensions shall not be unreasonably withheld.
- (c) Part-time Employees will be granted the number of days leave provided for in this Article but will receive pay on a prorated basis for leave taken.
- (d) Other compassionate leaves with pay, up to the time limit specified in Article 26.04(a) above, may be given at the discretion of the Employer.

## 26.05 (1) Other Leaves

Employees shall be allowed leave of absence with pay and without loss of seniority and benefits for the following reasons:

- (a) Up to a maximum of three (3) full days in any calendar year for legal consultation or court appearance in the case of divorce or legal separation where the Employee is one of the principals.
- (b) Time off to write examinations for studies that are job related.
- (c) Two (2) days off for her marriage. The time off must be taken within a one-week period continuous to the ceremony.
- (d) Up to three (3) days off for serious fire or flood in Employee's household.
- (e) One (1) day off per contract year for moving Employee's household.
- (f) One (1) day off per incident for serious household or domestic emergency (including vehicle accident) up to a maximum of three (3) days per year.
- (g) One (1) day off for formal hearing to become a Canadian Citizen.
- (h) Part-time Employees will be granted the number of days leave provided for in this Article but will receive pay on a pro-rated basis for leave taken.
- (2) Other leaves may be given with or without pay at the discretion of the Employer.
- (3) When an Employee is elected or appointed to a full-time position or office within a municipal, provincial or federal labour organization with which the Union is affiliated, the Local shall submit a written request for leave of absence on behalf of the Employee concerned to the Director of Human Resources. The Local shall provide the Association with four (4) weeks written prior notice. Permission for such leaves will not be unreasonably withheld. Such leave shall involve no cost to the Association and provided further that upon expiration of her term of office, the Employee shall be returned to her former position, if such position exists, or if such position does not exist, to a comparable position.

(4) An Employee who has been employed for at least 13 consecutive weeks is eligible for a leave of absence for up to 10 days of leave as well as 15 weeks of leave if the Employee or a child of the Employee experiences domestic or sexual violence, or the threat of domestic or sexual violence, and the leave of absence is taken for the purposes set out in the Employment Standards Act.

The first five days of this leave shall be paid leave.

#### 26.06 Personal Leaves

Other personal leave of absence without pay may be granted at the discretion of the Employer. Requests must be submitted in writing to the Manager, as early as possible, and at least one (1) week in advance of the proposed leave taking. Permission for such leaves shall not be unreasonably withheld.

#### ARTICLE 27 – REIMBURSEMENT

- 27.01 In so far as they are available, Employer-owned cars will be used by Employees for Employer business.
- 27.02 Public transportation shall be used whenever it is reasonable to do so, such costs to be reimbursed. When it is not reasonable, and an Employer-owned car is unavailable, an Employee may use her own car for Employer business and in such cases the following will apply:
  - (a) Employees shall carry a minimum level of \$2,000,000 Public Liability and Property Damage Insurance;
  - (b) Employees using their own cars on Employer's business shall be reimbursed at the rate of 54 cents per kilometre. This travel allowance will be considered reimbursement for expenses incurred in operating the Employee's car, including Public Liability and Property Damage Insurance;
  - (c) There will be no reimbursement for payment of fines incurred for traffic offences while driving Employer-owned or Employee-owned cars;
  - (d) Reasonable parking fees and costs of telephone calls will be reimbursed;
  - (e) Where an Employee uses her bicycle for transportation to conduct business on behalf of the Association, she will be reimbursed the amount equivalent to that of using public transportation.
  - (f) Employees travelling out of town on YWCA Toronto business will use the most economical means, subject to the approval of the Manager.
- 27.03 Reasonable expenses for child care, when outside of normal working hours, and for meals, when incurred in carrying out Employer business, will be reimbursed.
- 27.04 Expenses approved by the Manager will be reimbursed by the Employer. Expenses should be submitted no later than one month after the purchase.

## ARTICLE 28 – EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

- 28.01 (a) Eligible non-wage benefits accrue to Employees from the initial date of commencing employment. When on paid leave of absence, pregnancy/parental, sick leave, or vacation, the Employee shall remain covered by the health and welfare benefits subject to individual plan regulations, provided for in the following clauses. The Employer will continue to pay the Employer's portion of the billed premiums for the duration of any paid leave, unless the Employee advises the Employer, in writing, to the contrary.
  - (b) Sick leave, vacation entitlement and child care allowance begin to accrue from the initial date of commencing employment. The Group Insurance Plan, LTD, Dental Plan and Extended Health Care Plan shall begin on the first of the month following the Employee's completion of three (3) months of continuous employment. The Employer shall begin its contribution to the Group Pension Plan in accordance with the Letter of Understanding regarding the Multi-Sector Pension Plan.
- 28.02 (a) Eligible Employees shall participate in the Group Insurance Plan, LTD, Dental Plan and Extended Health Care Plan.

The Extended Health Care Plan shall include a prescription plan for restricted prescribed drugs. In addition to any eligibility requirements under such plan, eligible Employees will be required, as a qualifying condition, to provide the Insurer on an annual basis with a letter from the Employee's doctor certifying that the Employee suffers from a specified chronic illness that requires taking specified medication on a regular basis which would not necessarily require a prescription by law. The Employer may arrange for equivalent or improved coverage by a different carrier.

The Employer agrees to provide vision benefits of \$300 every 24 months to cover prescription eyeglasses, contact lenses and/or laser surgery.

The Employer agrees to provide \$60.00 every twenty-four (24) months for eye examinations.

- (b) Eligible Employees shall contribute to the Group Pension Plan in accordance with the Letter of Understanding regarding the Multi- Sector Pension Plan.
- (c) The Employer's contribution rate shall be 5.75% of earned income and the Employee shall contribute 3.25% of earned income.
- 28.03 The Employer agrees to pay 100% of the OHIP premiums for all Employees and to make all other payments and deductions as required by law, and to ensure that Employees enter other plans (Group Pension Plan, group life insurance and any other negotiated plans) at such time as the plans allow for eligibility.

- (a) The Employer agrees to cover all Employees under the Workplace Safety and Insurance Act. The Employer agrees to redress any difference between the Workplace Safety and Insurance Benefits and the Employee's regular salary. The Employer also agrees to pay the Employee her regular salary until such time as the Employee starts to receive payment from the Workplace Safety and Insurance Board or Employment Insurance benefits (whichever comes first), with the understanding that the Employee shall reimburse the Employer with the amount received from the Workplace Safety and Insurance Board in retroactive payment for this processing period. (Accidents must be reported to the Human Resources Department on required forms within twenty-four (24) hours, as stipulated under the Workplace Safety and Insurance Act). The Employee agrees to provide the Employer with evidence that she has applied to HRSDC within a week of the date of the accident.
  - (b) It is understood that at the same time the Employee applies to receive WSIB benefits, the Employee will apply to receive Employment Insurance benefits.
- 28.05 The Employer agrees to pay **the equivalent of** 50% of the premiums of the Long-Term Disability plan **as a payment to Employees**. Employees shall be eligible for benefits described in the policy, subject to the terms of the policy and such other conditions as determined by the carrier.
- 28.06 The Employer agrees to cover all eligible Employees under the Dental Plan, with the Employer paying 100% of the premiums for the Basic Services coverage only.
- 28.07 The Employer agrees to pay 100% of the Extended Health Services Plan.
- 28.08 (a) The Employer agrees to pay the full cost of the Extended Health Care Benefits single coverage for all Employees who are taking early retirement from the Employer with an accumulated total of ten (10) years of service and at least fifty-five (55) years of age, from the time of their retirement until they turn sixty-five (65).
  - (b) The Employer agrees to negotiate with a carrier to offer coverage of the Extended Health Care Benefits to all retired Employees over the age of sixty-five (65) who have an accumulated total of at least fifteen (15) years of continuous service with the Employer. The Employee has the option, for as long as the Employee lives, of receiving these benefits by paying the premiums for these benefits, subject to continued availability from the insurer.
- 28.09 The Employer will not change insurance carriers without consultation with the Union and shall not reduce the benefits provided by the current carrier.
- 28.10 The Employer agrees to pay 100% of the costs for the Employee **and Family** Assistance Program.

#### ARTICLE 29 – JOINT OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH & SAFETY COMMITTEE

- 29.01 The Association and the Local agree that they mutually desire to maintain standards of safety and health in the Association in order to prevent accidents, injury, and illness.
- 29.02 Recognizing its responsibilities under the applicable legislation, the Association agrees to form a Joint Occupational Health and Safety Committee in accordance with the abovementioned legislation.
- 29.03 Such a committee shall identify potential dangers and hazards; institute means of improving health and safety programs and recommend actions to be taken to improve conditions related to safety and health.
- 29.04 The Association agrees to co-operate reasonably in providing necessary information to enable the committee to fulfill its functions.
- 29.05 The terms of reference, procedures and methods of operation shall be determined by the joint committee.
- 29.06 Time off to attend meetings of the Joint Occupational Health and Safety Committee, shall be granted, in accordance with the foregoing, and time used by any representatives attending such meetings shall be considered as work time.
- 29.07 The Local agrees to endeavour to obtain the full co-operation of its membership in the observation of all safety rules and practices.

# ARTICLE 30 – JOB SHARING

- 30.01 Any job sharing agreement will encompass all of the following principles:
  - (a) Job sharing is defined as an arrangement whereby two Employees share the hours of work of one full-time position. Subject to the provisions of Article 18, the position involved in the job sharing arrangement will be maintained as a full-time position in the Association's staffing complement.
  - (b) Where the Association, the Union and the affected Employees agree to a job sharing arrangement, the introduction and discontinuance of such job sharing arrangement will be determined by both parties. In preparing discontinuance language, the parties shall make provisions for a full-time Employee who has transferred to a regular part-time position as part of a job sharing arrangement to have the first option of returning to that full-time position on the discontinuance of the arrangement.
  - (c) Overall costs shall not exceed the cost of a full-time position.
  - (d) Bumping rights will be negotiated in each case. Only one person will have the right to bump. The Employees involved in a job sharing arrangement will be classified as regular part-time and will be covered by all provisions of this Collective Agreement.
  - (e) Employees presently covered by a job-sharing arrangement shall be subject to its terms and conditions until such job sharing arrangement is discontinued.
  - (f) This Article is to be Employee initiated only.

# **ARTICLE 31 – MODIFIED WORK**

Where the Association and the Union agree, and in compliance with the relevant legislation, the Association may implement modified/rehabilitative work programs in order to assist Employees returning to work following illness or injury. To facilitate these programs, it is understood and agreed that provisions of the Collective Agreement may, where agreed, be varied. The specific terms of the program will be signed by the Association and the Union.

#### ARTICLE 32 – SECONDMENT

- 32.01 The parties agree that it is desirable to provide current Employees with professional development opportunities including secondment.
- 32.02 (a) All job postings shall identify whether the position is secondable.
  - (b) The Employer agrees to provide in writing the rationale to the Union when a position is not secondable. This decision is not grievable.
- 32.03 The Employee shall submit an application for secondment to the Manager of the vacant position. A copy of the application shall be forwarded to the Director of Human Resources and her current Manager. The Employee should indicate in the request her learning objectives.
- 32.04 The Director of Human Resources shall inform the Local of all secondment requests.
- 32.05 An Employee who applies for a secondment shall be interviewed to determine her capability to perform the essential duties of the position.
- 32.06 If an Employee has been accepted for secondment, a written training plan will be developed by the Manager of the vacant position and the Employee.
- 32.07 If an Employee has been denied for secondment, this decision is not grievable under the Collective Agreement unless the Local or the Employee claims a breach of Article 3 No discrimination.
- 32.08 Approval of the secondment from the Chief Executive Officer shall be issued to the Employee outlining the terms of the secondment. The written training plan shall form part of the agreement. A copy shall be forwarded to the Local.
- 32.09 The length of a secondment is not to exceed twelve (12) months. Extensions may be considered in extenuating circumstances where a project or program would be jeopardized if a secondment ended.

A secondment may be extended with sixty (60) days notice to the Employee.

- 32.10 In the event of a need for early termination of the secondment, the secondment agreement may be terminated by the Association or the Employee by giving the other party two weeks' written notice.
- 32.11 A vacancy may be filled by a secondment, but not on a permanent basis. When a vacancy is to be filled on a permanent basis, the posting procedures will be as set out in Article 17 of the Collective Agreement.
- 32.12 An Employee on secondment is subject to a trial period as outlined in Article 14.04(a).

- 32.13 An Employee on secondment is subject to performance reviews as per Article 14 of the Collective Agreement. At the end of the secondment, a review will be made on the skills learned.
- 32.14 An Employee on secondment to one position cannot apply for secondment to another position during the same period.
- 32.15 At the time when layoff and bumping come into effect, the directly affected Employee and any other Employee(s) who have been transferred due to the secondment will be returned to their permanent positions.
- 32.16 An Employee who is seconded to a position at a lower level in the job classification system shall receive the salary for the secondment position at the same step as in her permanent position.
- 32.17 An Employee who is seconded to a higher level in the job classification system shall receive her current salary or Step 1 of the new position, whichever is greater.
- 32.18 Upon completion of a secondment an Employee will return to her permanent position without loss of seniority or loss of step increase on her anniversary date.
- 32.19 A bargaining unit Employee who is hired to fill the vacancy created by the Employee on secondment shall return to her permanent position without loss of seniority or loss of step increase when the seconded Employee returns to her permanent position.
- 32.20 A seconded Employee shall be part of the bargaining unit, subject to all the terms and conditions of the Collective Agreement.
- 32.21 This Article is not intended to replace the Vacancies and Transfer Article.

# ARTICLE 33 – JOB DESCRIPTIONS

- 33.01 Every position shall have a written Job Description that shall include a Job Factor Analysis. The Job Description shall contain a list of the minimum requirements needed for the position. A copy of this Job Description and Analysis shall be placed in each Employee's personnel file. Every Employee shall be given a copy of her Job Description and Job Factor Analysis at the time of employment. She shall also be given information concerning policies and procedures of the Employer relevant to that Job Description. Copies of the Job Description shall be filed with the Human Resources Department and with the Local within ten (10) working days of the date of employment.
- 33.02 Where a job is to be for less than twelve (12) months per year, this will be included in the Job Description.
- 33.03 The Employer and the Local agree to establish a Joint Job Classification Committee comprised of two (2) representatives of the Employer and two (2) representatives of the Local. The committee shall have the responsibility of evaluating and classifying job descriptions including proposals for revisions and new job descriptions for new positions.
- 33.04 The Employer agrees that Job Descriptions of current Employees shall not be changed beyond the level of skill expectation of their current positions except by mutual consent of the Local and the affected Employees. Any changes by the Employer to a job description shall be referred to the Joint Job Classification Committee for evaluation and classification.
- 33.05 All job descriptions shall be reviewed annually by the Manager and the Employee as a part of the performance appraisal.
- 33.06 All job descriptions for new positions will be reviewed by the Employee and the Manager after the first six (6) months. Any changes will be approved by the Employer and be resubmitted to the Joint Job Classification Committee for rating.
- 33.07 Employees who wish to have their job descriptions reviewed by the Joint Job Classification Committee for re-classification shall discuss these concerns with their Manager. If they are unable to agree, the Employee should take the matter to the Director of the Department to resolve the dispute.

# ARTICLE 34 – JOINT JOB CLASSIFICATION AND SALARY SCALE

34.01 There shall exist a Joint Job Classification Committee consisting of two (2) representatives each for both the Association and the Local. This committee has developed the terms of reference. The terms of reference include a process which addresses any dispute concerning the classification of the position.

The job classification, as outlined in Appendix A, is based on a series of factors and grades related to the requirements of the job, not the specific qualifications of the Employee currently in the job. The existing jobs for Employees fall into seven (7) job levels as outlined in Appendix A.

- 34.02 (a) Employees shall be remunerated in accordance with Appendix B.
  - (b) Changes to the salary grid (Appendix B) negotiated through the collective bargaining process will be effective from the first day after the expiration of the Agreement. For greater clarity, all Employees will receive retroactive pay increases from the first day after the expiration of the Agreement. This includes Employees who have been laid off, who are on paid leave, or who have left the Association.
- 34.03 An increment shall be understood to mean movement upward one step in the salary schedule for those Employees who have not reached step #6 of their level.

Employees shall have as their anniversary date, the first day of the month in which they were hired. The anniversary date shall be used for calculating increments, and shall never be changed, so long as the Employee is covered by this Collective Agreement.

- 34.04 In the event that an Employee moves to a job at a higher level in the classification system, she shall move to a step in that level which gives her a salary increase of no less than 3%. For greater clarity, this includes bumping, reclassification and vacancy but does not include secondment.
- 34.05 In the event that an Employee is moved to a lower level in the classification system, she shall receive the amount of salary for the higher position for a period of six (6) months, after which she will receive the salary for the lower level position at the same step as in her previous position.
- 34.06 In the event that an Employee voluntarily moves into a job at a lower level in the classification system, she shall maintain her current step.

- 34.07 (a) An Employee who agrees to a Management request, in writing, to temporarily assume the principal functions of a position in a higher classification in addition to her own work, and which exceeds the responsibilities set out in her job description, shall receive the salary of the higher classification level or a premium of an additional 10% of her basic salary whichever is greater. She shall remain covered by this Collective Agreement.
  - (b) An Employee who agrees to a Management request, in writing, to temporarily assume all of the responsibilities of a position in a higher classification level shall be relieved of her own responsibilities and shall move to a step in that level which gives her a salary increase of no less than three percent (3%). She shall remain covered by this Collective Agreement.
  - (c) An Employee who agrees to a Management request, in writing, to temporarily assume all of the responsibilities of a position in the same classification level shall be relieved of her own responsibilities and shall maintain her level and step. She shall remain covered by this Collective Agreement.
- 34.08 (a) An Employee temporarily assigned to perform the principal functions of a position in the same or a lower classification in addition to her own responsibilities shall receive a premium of an additional 10% of her basic salary and shall remain covered by this Collective Agreement. This premium shall not apply to normal vacation coverage.
  - (b) An Employee temporarily assigned to perform all the responsibilities of a position in a lower classification shall be relieved of her normal responsibilities and shall not suffer any reduction in salary. She shall remain covered by this Collective Agreement.

# **ARTICLE 35 – GENERAL CONDITIONS**

- 35.01 It shall be the duty of each Employee to notify the Employer promptly of any change in address and telephone number. If an Employee fails to do this, the Employer will not be responsible for failure of a notice to reach such Employee.
- 35.02 The Employer shall provide annual written performance reviews to Employees, which shall be used for the purpose of the development of the Employee. The performance review process shall not take longer than one (1) month and shall commence at the time of the performance review month, wherever possible. If three (3) months after the performance review month passes without commencement of the performance review, and assuming the Employee is actively employed throughout this period and their Manager has supervised the Employee for a minimum of six (6) months, a note will be added to the Employee's file stating that the review was not completed and therefore deemed satisfactory. The next review shall occur at the next performance review month. The performance review may include an assessment of supervision by the Employee and the Supervisor and its effect on the Employee's performance. The Employee may also discuss the Supervisory process with the Department Director directly above her Supervisor. The Employee shall have the opportunity to add written comments regarding the content of the total performance review report and shall receive a copy which shall be signed by both parties and dated. The signature of the Employee on such performance review indicates only that the Employee has seen and discussed the review with her Supervisor. A copy of the performance review with any additions made by the Employee must be forwarded to the Human Resources Department to be placed in her personnel file. In the event that a review has exceeded the one-year period, the Employer shall only consider the twelve (12) months preceding the review date. The performance review shall include a joint review of the Employee's job description. After discussion, the Manager may make adjustments, as needed.
- 35.03 (a) Every Employee shall receive a copy of any document in her personnel file at the time it is placed in her file. The Employee will sign, within five (5) days, the Employer's file copy of the document if the Employer so requests, indicating only that she has seen the document. The Employee may also have placed on her file any written addendum to any document placed in her file by the Employer. Nothing of a detrimental nature shall be added to her personnel file after termination of employment.
  - (b) Employees shall have access to their own personnel files in the Human Resources Department, provided that they do not remove the file from the office and that the Director of Human Resources or her designate is present. The Employee shall have the right to have a fellow Employee of her choice present when viewing her file. Human Resources shall furnish, upon request of an Employee, a photocopy of any documents in the Employee's file.
  - (c) All documents placed in an Employee's file shall be dated.

- 35.04 The Employer agrees to provide, upon request of an Employee, letters of reference to prospective Employers with a copy to the person concerned. The Employer also agrees to provide, upon request of such Employees, a letter of reference addressed, "To Whom it May Concern".
- 35.05 The Employer will not change the present pay cycle.
- 35.06 (a) The Employer shall require each new Employee to have a **Vulnerable Sector Police Reference Check** performed, the costs for this procedure shall be borne by the Employer.
  - (b) The Employer shall require all Employees hired before March 1, 1995 to have a Criminal Reference Check performed, the costs for this procedure shall be borne by the Employer.
  - (c) The Employer reserves the right to require any Employee to have a Criminal Reference Check performed at any time and the costs for this procedure shall be borne by the Employer.

# **ARTICLE 36 – PRODUCTION OF AGREEMENT**

36.01 The **responsibility** for the cost of production of **the number of** copies of **the** Collective Agreement **that the parties agree are required** shall be borne equally by the Employer and the Local to be completed within three (3) months of ratification of the Agreement.

# **ARTICLE 37 – DURATION OF AGREEMENT**

37.01 This Agreement shall be effective from April 1, **2018** to March 31, **2021** and from year to year thereafter unless either party gives notice, in writing, not more than ninety (90) days or less than thirty (30) days prior to the expiration date in any year, of their desire to amend or terminate the Agreement. If notice of the desire to bargain is given in writing by either party, the parties agree to meet within (15) days after receipt of such a notice. In the event of such a notice, all conditions of this Agreement shall remain in effect until a new Agreement is signed or until the conciliation process is completed and the Union is entitled by law to commence a legal strike and the Employer is entitled by law to conduct a legal lockout.

**SIGNED** at Toronto, Ontario this <u>17th</u> day of <u>July</u>, 2020.

FOR THE UNION

FOR THE EMPLOYER

Marie Lorenzo

**Carol Shortell** 

Qaiser Khan

**Robin Silverman** 

Nancy Ramalho

Jeannette Manguiat

Donna Levy (alternate)

Leslie Russell

**Alethia Lewis** 

#### APPENDIX A

# **Classification of Positions by Title and Level**

As of September 27, 2019

LEVEL	POSITION TITLE
1	Assistant Caretaker, Property Services - 1 <sup>st</sup> Stop Woodlawn
	Assistant Caretaker, Property Services - Bergamot
	Assistant Caretaker, Property Services - Pape
	Cleaner (Part-Time), Property Services - 1 <sup>st</sup> Stop Woodlawn
	Cleaner, Property Services, 1 <sup>st</sup> Stop Woodlawn
	Cleaner, Property Services, YWCA Davenport
	Cleaner, Property Services, Elm Centre
	Cleaner, YWCA Arise and Women's Shelter
	Cook (Part-Time), 1 <sup>st</sup> Stop Woodlawn
2	Care for Newcomer Children Educator (Part-Time), English Language Skills & Development
	Caretaker, Property Services - Bergamot
	Caretaker, Property Services- 1st Stop Woodlawn
	Caretaker, Property Services- Davenport
	Caretaker, Property Services- Pape
	Cook/Food Services Worker, Women's Shelter
	Cook/Food Services Worker, YWCA Arise
	Cook/Kitchen Administrator, Bergamot Early Learning Centre
	Receptionist, Executive Office and Administration
3	Administrative Assistant (Contract Position), YWCA Employment Centre (3090)
	Administrative Assistant, Housing Administration
	Administrative Assistant, JUMP Etobicoke, English Language Skills
	Development and Skills Trade Programs
	Administrative Assistant, YWCA Employment Centre (2425)

Client Service Worker, YWCA Employment Centre (2425)

Client Service Worker, YWCA Employment Centre (3090)

Maintenance Assistant, Property Services- Elm

5

- Program Assistant, Essential Skills for Employment (ESE) Program, Moving on 3 to Success (MOTS), Education and Training Institute (ETi), Employment Focus (EF) and Skills Development Centre (SDC) Registered Early Childhood Educator, Bergamot Early Learning Centre Superintendent, Property Services - Elm Centre
- Accounts Payable and Administrative Clerk, Finance and Information 4 Technology Administrative Assistant, (Part-Time), Bergamot Early Learning Centre Administrative Assistant, YWCA Employment Centre, SDC and YWCA **Education and Training Institute** Housing Administrator, Housing Administration Maintenance Worker, Property Services Office Administrator, JUMP Scarborough Registrar, (Part-Time), Camping and Outdoor Education Rent Administrator, Housing Administration
  - Volunteer and Special Projects Co-ordinator, Philanthropy Department

Care for Newcomer Children (CNC) Lead Educator, English Language Skills & Development
Corporate & Community Partnerships Officer, Philanthropy Department
Craft and Food Activator, Housing Support Programs and Elm
Design and Production Co-ordinator, (Part-Time), Advocacy and Communications
Employment/Outreach Counsellor, JUMP Etobicoke
Employment/Outreach Counsellor, JUMP Scarborough
Event and Stewardship Officer, Philanthropy Department
Executive Assistant and Project Development Officer, Philanthropy Department
Front Desk Support Worker, Housing and Support- 1st Stop Woodlawn
Front Desk Support Worker, YWCA Davenport
Front Desk Support Worker, YWCA Elm Centre (6 positions available) (2) Daytime Positions (2) Evening Positions (2) Part-time Weekend Positions Job Coach/Job Developer, YWCA Women in Trades
Language Instruction for Newcomers to Canada (LINC) - Lead Instructor, (Part- Time), English Language Skills & Development

5	Language Instructor for Newcomers to Canada (LINC), (Part-Time), English Language Skills & Development Lead Superintendent/Building Operator, Property Services - Elm Centre
	Office Co-ordinator, Executive Office & Administration
	Payroll and Financial Administrator, (Part-Time), Finance and Information Technology
	Program Administrator/Researcher, YWCA Employment Program (3090)
	Registered Early Childhood Educator/Assistant Supervisor, Bergamot Early Learning Centre
	Resource & Information Specialist/Facilitator, YWCA Employment Centre (2425)
	Resource & Information Specialist/Facilitator, YWCA Employment Centre (3090)
	Settlement/Employment Counsellor - JUMP Scarborough

6

Administrative Assistant, Girls' and Family Programs, Girls' Centre Program and Breakthrough Program Annual Giving Officer, Philanthropy Department Awake Shelter Support Worker – Overnight Trauma Counsellor, 1st Stop Woodlawn Awake, Shelter Support Worker – Overnight Trauma Counsellor, YWCA Women's Shelter Business Administrator, Women in Trades and Technology Programs and JUMP Etobicoke Business Administrator, SDC, Education and Training Institute, Moving on to Success, Employment Focus and Essential Skills Business Administrator, Women's Shelter Business Administrator, YWCA Davenport Business Administrator, YWCA Employment Centre (3090) Career Advisor/Facilitator, YWCA Employment Centre (2425) Career Advisor/Facilitator, YWCA Employment Centre (3090) Career Counsellor/Program Administrator, Employment Focus & SDC Community Development Worker - Children and Youth, Women's Shelter Community Development Worker - Children and Youth, YWCA Arise Community Engagement Transitional Support Worker - Agnes MacPhail House, 1st Stop and Beatrice House Community Liaison Worker, YWCA Davenport

December 6th Fund Support Worker, December 6th Fund
Donor Services and Operations Officer, Philanthropy Department
Employment and Placement Specialist, YWCA Employment Centre (2425)
Employment and Placement Specialist, YWCA Employment Centre (3090)
Executive Assistant to the Director of Employment and Training, Director of
Shelter and Girls' and Family Programs & Director of Permanent Housing
Financial Analyst, Finance and Information Technology
Food Services Co-ordinator, (Part-Time), 1st Stop Woodlawn
Foundations, Major Gifts & Planned Giving Officer, Philanthropy Department
Girls' Centre Community Development and Program Facilitator, (Part-Time),
Girls and Family Programs
Girls' Centre Community Development and Program Facilitator, Girls and
Family Programs
Group Facilitator/Trainer, Skills Development Centre (SDC), Education and
Training Institute (ETi), Employment Focus (EF), Essential Skills for
Employment (ESE), and Moving on to Success (MOTS)
Intake/Employment Counsellor and Trainer, Skills Development Centre (SDC), Employment Focus, Education and Training Institute (ETI) and Moving on to
Success (MOTS)
Maintenance Co-ordinator, Property Services
Marketing and Events Coordinator, YWCA Employment Centres, SDC and
YWCA Education Training Institute
Marketing Co-ordinator/Trainer, SDC and MOTS
Outreach & Promotion Specialist, YWCA Employment Centre (2425)
Outreach and Promotion Specialist, YWCA Employment Centre (3090)
Overnight Shelter Support Worker, YWCA Davenport
Philanthropy Writer, Philanthropy Department
Program Administrator, SDC and MOTS Program
Program Worker and Here to Help Co-ordinator, Girls' and Family Programs
Program Worker, (Part-Time), Breakthrough
Program Worker, (Part-Time), Choices for Living
Program Worker, Teen Mothers' Program
Program/Data Administrator, YWCA Employment Centre (3090)
Senior Payroll Administrator, Finance & Information Technology
Shelter Support Worker – Community Engagement Worker, (Part-Time),
Women's Shelter
Shelter Support Worker - Community Engagement Worker, Women's Shelter
Shelter Support Worker - Community Engagement Worker, YWCA Arise
Shelter Support Worker – Harm Reduction Counsellor, 1st Stop Woodlawn

6	Shelter Support Worker - Health and Wellness Counsellor, Women's Shelter
	Shelter Support Worker - Health and Wellness Counsellor, YWCA Arise
	Shelter Support Worker - Heath and Wellness Counsellor,1st Stop Woodlawn
	Shelter Support Worker - Housing Counsellor, 1st Stop Woodlawn
	Shelter Support Worker - Housing Counsellor, Women's Shelter
	Shelter Support Worker - Housing Counsellor, YWCA Arise
	Shelter Support Worker - Immigration and Refugee Counsellor, 1st Stop Woodlawn
	Shelter Support Worker - Legal Services Support Worker, Women's Shelter
	Shelter Support Worker - Legal Services Support Worker, YWCA Arise
	Shelter Support Worker – Overnight Trauma Counsellor (Part-Time), YWCA Women's Shelter
	Shelter Support Worker - Overnight Trauma Counsellor, (Part-Time) YWCA Arise
	Shelter Support Worker - Overnight Trauma Counsellor, YWCA Arise
	Shelter Support Worker - Parent and Child Support Worker, Women's Shelter
	Shelter Support Worker - Parent and Child Support Worker, YWCA Arise
	Shelter Support Worker - Second Stage Housing Counsellor, 1st Stop Woodlawn
	Shelter Support Worker –Health and Wellness Counsellor, (Part-Time), 1st Stop Woodlawn
	Shelter Support Worker -Trauma Counsellor, (Part-Time), YWCA Arise
	Shelter Support Worker, YWCA Davenport
	Trainer/Facilitator, Skills Development Centre and Education and Training Institute
	Transitional & Housing Support Counsellor, 1st Stop Woodlawn
	Transitional & Housing Support Worker, (Part-Time), Women's Shelter
	Transitional & Housing Support Worker, (Part-Time), YWCA Arise
	Venue Rentals Co-ordinator, Advocacy and Communications

 Business Administrator, 1st Stop Woodlawn Shelter and Choices for Living Program
 Business Administrator, Housing Administration
 Business Administrator, YWCA Arise
 Business Administrator, YWCA Elm Centre and Clinical Services (Choices and South Etobicoke)

Business Co-ordinator/Technical Support, YWCA Employment Centre (2425)

7	Case Manager – Mental Health and Housing, South Etobicoke, Housing Support Program
	Community Engagement Worker - Harm Reduction Beyond Substance Use, YWCA Elm Centre
	Community Engagement Worker – Indigenous Arts and Cultures, YWCA Elm Centre
	Community Engagement Worker - Mental Health & Well-Being, YWCA Elm Centre
	Community Engagement Worker – Mental Health and Addictions, YWCA Elm Centre
	Community Engagement Worker- Indigenous Health and Wellness, YWCA Elm Centre
	Community Support Worker, (Part-Time), Housing Support Program Community Support Worker, Housing Support Program
	Eviction Prevention Worker, Housing Administration
	Facilities Co-ordinator, Property Services Housing Worker, YWCA Elm Centre
	Intake Co-ordinator, Housing Administration
	Program Worker, Camping & Outdoor Education Senior Design and Production Co-ordinator, Advocacy and Communications Senior Financial Analyst and Executive Assistant, Finance & Information Technology
	Senior Marketing and Advocacy Officer, Advocacy and Communications Training Programs Co-ordinator, YWCA Employment Centre, SDC and YWCA Education and Training Institute
	Transitional & Housing Support Worker, Housing Support Program

#### APPENDIX B

LEVEL	STEP 1	STEP 2	STEP 3	STEP 4	STEP 5	STEP 6
1	35,527	36,728	37,979	39,279	40,628	41,779
2	39,702	40,674	41,674	42,706	43,769	45,006
3	42,076	43,233	44,422	45,648	46,910	48,248
4	44,249	45,452	46,689	47,965	49,276	50,688
5	46,603	47,883	49,200	50,559	51,953	53,443
6	49,533	50,912	52,331	53,798	55,301	56,894
7	53,019	54,497	56,017	57,583	59,196	60,903

Effective April 1, 2018 to March 31, 2019

NOTE: \$600 increase applied to the grid. No Pay Equity adjustments required.

#### APPENDIX B

LEVEL	STEP 1	STEP 2	STEP 3	STEP 4	STEP 5	STEP 6
1	36,152	37,353	38,604	39,904	41,253	42,404
2	40,327	41,299	42,299	43,331	44,394	45,631
3	42,701	43,858	45,047	46,273	47,535	48,873
4	44,874	46,077	47,314	48,590	49,901	51,313
5	47,228	48,508	49,825	51,184	52,578	54,068
6	50,158	51,537	52,956	54,423	55,926	57,519
7	53,644	55,122	56,642	58,208	59,821	61,528

Effective April 1, **2019** to March 31, **2020** 

NOTE: \$625 increase applied to the grid. No Pay Equity adjustments required.

#### APPENDIX B

LEVEL	STEP 1	STEP 2	STEP 3	STEP 4	STEP 5	STEP 6
1	36,802	38,003	39,254	40,554	41,903	43,054
2	40,977	41,949	42,949	43,981	45,044	46,281
3	43,351	44,508	45,697	46,923	48,185	49,523
4	45,524	46,727	47,964	49,240	50,551	51,963
5	47,878	49,158	50,475	51,834	53,228	54,718
6	50,808	52,187	53,606	55,073	56,576	58,169
7	54,294	55,772	57,292	58,858	60,471	62,178

Effective April 1, **2020** to March 31, **2021** 

NOTE: \$650 increase applied to the grid. No Pay Equity adjustments required.

# APPENDIX C

#### Letter of Understanding

#### between

# YOUNG WOMEN'S CHRISTIAN ASSOCIATION OF GREATER TORONTO ("Employer")

and

# CANADIAN UNION OF PUBLIC EMPLOYEES, LOCAL 2189 ("Union")

#### Financial Statements

The Employer agrees that the Union can utilize the Labour-Management Committee to discuss the Employer's audited Financial Statements. The Union may have a financial expert in attendance at these meetings. Such discussions shall not include any reference to source documents for the Financial Statements. When discussion takes place on salaries, the total amount of salaries will be broken down into groups as follows:

- 1. Total Salaries for Management Staff
- 2. Total Salaries for Bargaining Unit Staff
- 3. Total Salaries for Sessional Staff

#### APPENDIX D

#### MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT

#### between

# YOUNG WOMEN'S CHRISTIAN ASSOCIATION OF GREATER TORONTO ("Employer")

and

# CANADIAN UNION OF PUBLIC EMPLOYEES, LOCAL 2189 ("Union")

The parties agree that the benefits provided for in this Collective Agreement including but not limited to, Articles 24 and 26.04, 26.05 (1) (a), (d), and (f), 26.05 (2) and 26.06, shall fulfill the Employer's obligations pursuant to the emergency leave provisions of the *Employment Standards Act, 2000*.

The parties agree that the members of the bargaining unit receive a greater right or benefit with respect to public holiday pay than that provided for in the *Employment Standards Act, 2000*.

SIGNED at Toronto, Ontario this <u>17th</u> day of <u>July</u>, 2020.

FOR THE UNION

Marie Lorenzo

Courtell

**Carol Shortell** 

Qaiser Khan

**Robin Silverman** 

FOR THE EMPLOYER

**Nancy Ramalho** 

léannette Manguiat

Donna Levy (alternate)

Leslie Russell

manent Housing YWCA Toronto

Alethia Lewis

#### APPENDIX E

#### MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT

#### between

# YWCA TORONTO (the "YWCA" or the "Employer")

and

# CANADIAN UNION OF PUBLIC EMPLOYEES, LOCAL 2189 (the "Union")

Re: Multi-Sector Pension Plan ("MSPP")

During collective bargaining negotiations, the Union requested that the YWCA participate in the Multi-Sector Pension Plan sponsored by the Union in lieu of the group RRSP arrangement referenced in Article 28.02 of the Collective Agreement. The YWCA has indicated it is prepared in principle to participate in the MSPP, and accordingly, the parties agree as follows:

- 1. The YWCA and the Trustees of the MSPP will enter into a Participation Agreement on mutually satisfactory terms that is consistent with this agreement.
- 2. The YWCA's participation in the MSPP shall commence on the Participation Date as such term is defined in the Participation Agreement.
- 3. Effective on the Participation Date, contributions to the group RRSP referenced in Article 28.02 of the Collective Agreement ceased, and contributions for eligible Employees shall be made instead to the MSPP. The rate of Employer contributions shall be 5.75% of the eligible Employee's earned income from the Participation Date.

An "eligible Employee" shall mean a full-time or part-time Employee in the bargaining unit who has completed 560 hours of service and is otherwise eligible to participate in the MSPP.

- 4. The Employee shall contribute 3.25% of the eligible Employee's earned income from the participation date to the Group Pension Plan.
- 5. The YWCA shall have no financial or other liability whatsoever in regard to the MSPP, save and except to make Employer contributions as set forth in this Letter of Understanding and to disclose the required information as outlined in the Participation Agreement. The Union acknowledges that the YWCA shall have no obligation to contribute to the cost of benefits beyond what is provided in this Letter of Understanding, nor shall the YWCA have any responsibility for providing benefits under the plan.

- 6. The Union and the YWCA acknowledge and agree that under current pension legislation and/or regulations, the YWCA has no requirement to fund any deficit in the MSPP but is required to contribute only that amount as required by the Collective Agreement in force between the parties. It is understood and agreed by the YWCA and the Union that should the current pension legislation or regulations be changed so that the YWCA's obligation to contribute to the MSPP exceeds the amount specified in the Collective Agreement then in force, the parties will negotiate a method to relieve the YWCA of this increased obligation to the extent that any such obligations exceed those which the YWCA would have if the MSPP were a defined contribution plan.
- 7. The parties agree that Employees who are age 71 or more shall receive additional salary in lieu of Employer contributions to the MSPP.

SIGNED at Toronto, Ontario this <u>17th</u> day of <u>July</u>, 2020.

FOR THE UNION

FOR THE EMPLOYER

Marie Lorenzo

**Carol Shortell** 

Qaiser Khan

**Robin Silverman** 

Nancy Ramalho

Jéannetté Manguiat

Donna Levy (alternate)

Leslie Russell

Alethia Lewis

# APPENDIX F

#### Letter of Understanding

#### between

# YOUNG WOMEN'S CHRISTIAN ASSOCIATION OF GREATER TORONTO ("the Employer")

and

# CANADIAN UNION OF PUBLIC EMPLOYEES, LOCAL 2189 ("the Union")

It is understood that ECE staff at the Early Learning Centres will be credited with lieu time for preparation before shift and /or clean-up after shift, when required by their Manager.

SIGNED at Toronto, Ontario this <u>17th</u> day of <u>July</u>, 2020.

FOR THE UNION

Marie Lorenzo

Ň

**Carol Shortell** 

Qaiser Khan

**Robin Silverman** 

FOR THE EMPLOYER

Nancy Ramalho

Jeannette Manguiat

Donna Levy (alternate)

Leslie Russell

Alethia Lewis

# APPENDIX G

#### Letter of Understanding

#### between

# YOUNG WOMEN'S CHRISTIAN ASSOCIATION OF GREATER TORONTO ("the Employer")

and

# CANADIAN UNION OF PUBLIC EMPLOYEES, LOCAL 2189 ("the Union")

In the event that the Employer closes a program due to inclement weather, and the Employer has not made alternate work arrangements for the Employee to work off site or remotely, an Employee who is scheduled to work in that program during the program closure, will be paid for her hours missed and will not be required to use personal credits for this time. If alternate work arrangements have been made and the Employee refuses them, she will be required to use personal credits or be unpaid for this time.

**SIGNED** at Toronto, Ontario this <u>17th</u> day of \_\_\_\_ July , 2020.

FOR THE UNION

**Marie Lorenzo** 

**Carol Shortell** 

Oaiser Khan

**Robin Silverman** 

FOR THE EMPLOYER

Nancy Ramalho

tté Manguiat

Donna Levy (alternate)

Leslie Russell

**Alethia Lewis** 

# APPENDIX H

#### Letter of Understanding

#### between

# YOUNG WOMEN'S CHRISTIAN ASSOCIATION OF GREATER TORONTO ("the Employer")

#### and

# CANADIAN UNION OF PUBLIC EMPLOYEES, LOCAL 2189 ("the Union")

The Superintendent Schedule conditions have been agreed to as follows:

Regular Schedule

- 10 working days of 14 days on a two-week rotation 8am-4pm; with 4 days off within the two-week rotation;
- Saturday and Sunday are considered full work days 8am to 4pm (according to the scheduled shifts); on a two-week schedule, this brings the number of work days up to 10 working days;
- For working on a scheduled Saturday and Sunday between 8am and 4pm, Article 18.07 does not apply;
- Paid holidays will not be a work day (credit 7 hours for full time employee), and relief staff will be scheduled to cover all paid holidays.

On Call

- Superintendents are compensated in part for On Call through a free apartment;
- On Call occurs on a scheduled shift after 4pm;
- If the Superintendent receives a phone call or deals with an issue in person she will charge a minimum of 15 minutes for each call or issue (Article 18.06 (b));
- On Call time for paid holidays will be charged as outlined in Article 22.02, when required. This includes telephone calls, emails or work orders, dealing with issues in person or routine checks;
- During On Call, distance away from the site is approximately 30 minutes or roughly in the range of 15 km from the site (Article 18.06 (a));
- On Call should be for emergencies only or issues that cannot wait until the next work day.

Other

- Paid holidays will be normally covered by relief;
- Overtime cannot exceed 35 hours and will be paid if it cannot be taken within three months (Article 18.02 (d) & (f));
- The Superintendent will send an email note to her supervisor and the Facilities Administrator the same day or the following day on overtime accumulated, the reason for the overtime (whether an extended work day or On Call work), and hours claimed;
- Lieu time to be taken for overtime must be approved by the supervisor in advance so that adequate coverage can be arranged;

Where a superintendent is granted a day off, the Manager will arrange relief coverage.

SIGNED at Toronto, Ontario this <u>17th</u> day of <u>July</u>, 2020.

FOR THE UNION

FOR THE EMPLOYER

Marie Lorenzo

**Carol Shortell** 

Qaiser Khan

**Robin Silverman** 

Nancy Ramalho

Jeannette Manguiat

Donna Levy (alternate)

Leslie Russell

**Alethia Lewis** 

#### <u>APPENDIX I</u>

#### LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING

between

YWCA Toronto (the "Employer")

and

# Canadian Union of Public Employees Local 2189 (the "Union")

The Employer agrees to grant the elected Local Union President unpaid leave for one (1) work day per week. The conditions for this leave are as follows:

- 1. A request will be submitted by the Union to the Employer providing the name of the elected Local President and the length of this leave. Wherever possible, this request will be made at least two months before the Union President's term begins.
- 2. This leave will not be unreasonably denied.
- 3. There will be no loss of seniority or service for this leave.
- 4. Salary and applicable benefits shall be maintained by the Employer.
- 5. The Union agrees to reimburse the Employer the full cost of one (1) day of such salary and applicable benefits.
- 6. This leave will not impact the workload of the incumbent.
- 7. The position held by the Union President will not be reduced in hours of work as a result of this leave (e.g. a 5 day per week position would remain a 5 day a week position and not be reduced to a 4 day per week position). Generally, this will mean such Employee's workload will be shared for the unpaid time via the employment of relief, sessional or bargaining unit Employee.
- 8. Notwithstanding the above, all Articles in this Collective Agreement pertaining to union work by Local officers shall continue to apply.
- 9. This agreement will be reviewed on an annual basis, or as required.

SIGNED at Toronto, Ontario this <u>17th</u> day of <u>July</u>, 2020.

FOR THE UNION

Marie Lorenzo

**Carol Shortell** 

Qaiser Khan

**Robin Silverman** 

FOR THE EMPLOYER

Nancy Ramalho

Jéannette Manguiat

Donna Levy (alternate)

Leslie Russell

using YWCA To

Alethia Lewis